

UNIVERSIDAD DE INVESTIGACIÓN DE TECNOLOGÍA EXPERIMENTAL YACHAY

Escuela de Ciencias Biológicas e Ingeniería

TÍTULO: Protein scaffolds for Phage Display and its Applications

Trabajo de integración curricular presentado como requisito para la obtención del título de Ingeniería Biomédica

Autor: Minchala Carangui Eduardo Josue

> **Tutor:** Ph.D. Santiago Vispo

Urcuquí, abril 2021



Urcuquí, 15 de junio de 2021

SECRETARÍA GENERAL (Vicerrectorado Académico/Cancillería) ESCUELA DE CIENCIAS BIOLÓGICAS E INGENIERÍA CARRERA DE BIOMEDICINA ACTA DE DEFENSA No. UITEY-BIO-2021-00013-AD

A los 15 días del mes de junio de 2021, a las 15:30 horas, de manera virtual mediante videoconferencia, y ante el Tribunal Calificador, integrado por los docentes:

Presidente Tribunal de Defensa	Dr. ALEXIS FRANK , Ph.D.
Miembro No Tutor	Dr. TERENCIO THIBAULT , Ph.D.
Tutor	Dr. SANTIAGO VISPO, NELSON FRANCISCO , Ph.D.

El(la) señor(ita) estudiante MINCHALA CARANGUI, EDUARDO JOSUE, con cédula de identidad No. 0302152897, de la ESCUELA DE CIENCIAS BIOLÓGICAS E INGENIERÍA, de la Carrera de BIOMEDICINA, aprobada por el Consejo de Educación Superior (CES), mediante Resolución RPC-SO-43-No.496-2014, realiza a través de videoconferencia, la sustentación de su trabajo de titulación denominado: Protein scatfolds for Phage Display and its Applications, previa a la obtención del título de INGENIERO/A BIOMÉDICIO/A.

El citado trabajo de titulación, fue debidamente aprobado por el(los) docente(s):

Tutor

Dr. SANTIAGO VISPO, NELSON FRANCISCO, Ph.D.

Y recibió las observaciones de los otros miembros del Tribunal Calificador, las mismas que han sido incorporadas por el(la) estudiante.

Previamente cumplidos los requisitos legales y reglamentarios, el trabajo de titulación fue sustentado por el(la) estudiante y examinado por los miembros del Tribunal Calificador. Escuchada la sustentación del trabajo de titulación a través de videoconferencia, que integró la exposición de el(la) estudiante sobre el contenido de la misma y las preguntas formuladas por los miembros del Tribunal, se califica la sustentación del trabajo de titulación con las siguientes calificaciones:

Tipo	Docente	Calificación
Miembro Tribunal De Defensa	Dr. TERENCIO THIBAULT , Ph.D.	10,0
Presidente Tribunal De Defensa	Dr. ALEXIS FRANK , Ph.D.	10,0
Tutor	Dr. SANTIAGO VISPO, NELSON FRANCISCO , Ph.D.	10,0

Lo que da un promedio de: 10 (Diez punto Cero), sobre 10 (diez), equivalente a: APROBADO

Para constancia de lo actuado, firman los miembros del Tribunal Calificador, el/la estudiante y el/la secretario ad-hoc.

Certifico que en cumplimiento del Decreto Ejecutivo 1017 de 16 de marzo de 2020, la defensa de trabajo de titulación (o examen de grado modalidad teórico práctica) se realizó vía virtual, por lo que las firmas de los miembros del Tribunal de Defensa de Grado, constan en forma digital.

Minchal

MINCHALA CARANGUI, EDUARDO JOSUE Estudiante

> Pirando electrónicamente por (FRANK ALEXIS

Dr. ALEXIS FRANK, Ph.D.

Dr. SANTIAGO VISPO, NELSON FRANCISCO , Ph.D. Tutor



THIBAULT UNC CO DELECTION TERENCIO

Dr. TERENCIO THIBAULT , Ph.D. Miembro No Tutor KARLA ESTEFANIA ALARCON FELIX 100120 10013

ALARCON FELIX, KARLA ESTEFANIA Secretario Ad-hoc

Hacienda San José s/n y Proyecto Yachay, Urcuquí | Tlf: +593 6 2 999 500 | info@yachaytech.edu.ec www.yachaytech.edu.ec

AUTORÍA

Yo, EDUARDO JOSUÉ MINCHALA CARANGUI, con cédula de identidad 0302152897, declaro que las ideas, juicios, valoraciones, interpretaciones, consultas bibliográficas, definiciones y conceptualizaciones expuestas en el presente trabajo; así cómo, los procedimientos y herramientas utilizadas en la investigación, son de absoluta responsabilidad de el/la autora (a) del trabajo de integración curricular. Así mismo, me acojo a los reglamentos internos de la Universidad de Investigación de Tecnología Experimental Yachay.

Urcuquí, junio 2021.

Wind

Eduardo Josué Minchala Carangui Cl: 0302152897

AUTORIZACIÓN DE PUBLICACIÓN

Yo, EDUARDO JOSUÉ MINCHALA CARANGUI, con cédula de identidad 0302152897, cedo a la Universidad de Investigación de Tecnología Experimental Yachay, los derechos de publicación de la presente obra, sin que deba haber un reconocimiento económico por este concepto. Declaro además que el texto del presente trabajo de titulación no podrá ser cedido a ninguna empresa editorial para su publicación u otros fines, sin contar previamente con la autorización escrita de la Universidad.

Asimismo, autorizo a la Universidad que realice la digitalización y publicación de este trabajo de integración curricular en el repositorio virtual, de conformidad a lo dispuesto en el Art. 144 de la Ley Orgánica de Educación Superior

Urcuquí, junio 2021.

Joine Allench

Eduardo Josué Minchala Carangui Cl: 0302152897 Dedicatoria

A mis padres: *Luis y Martha* A mis hermanos: *Carolina, Gabriela y Felipe*

Eduardo Josué Minchala Carangui

Agradecimientos

A Nelson Vispo Ph.D. tutor de tesis y profesor

A todos los que conforman la comunidad de Yachay, de manera especial al cuerpo docente

A Urcuquí

Eduardo Josué Minchala Carangui

Resumen

Una comprensión clara del reconocimiento biomolecular, especialmente durante la interacción proteína-proteína o la interacción péptido-proteína, es de gran importancia durante los procesos que se desvían de lo normal y causan enfermedades. La exhibición sobre fagos ha surgido como una tecnología muy útil para crear bibliotecas que contienen ligandos exclusivos que pueden interferir en esas interacciones y servir como base para crear fármacos novedosos. El foco de investigación colocado en los péptidos ha sido desproporcionadamente menor que en las proteínas. Aquí, se describe una revisión de diversas bibliotecas basadas en péptidos, lineales, cíclicos y bicíclicos, con ejemplos que ilustran su utilidad. También se proporcionará una descripción de andamimajes de proteínas seleccionados (anticalinas, knottins, affibodies y DARPins) derivados de fuentes naturales que han servido como plataforma para constreñir estructuralmente a péptidos y crear bibliotecas que tienen potencial como alternativas a terapias basadas en anticuerpos. Finalmente, se dará una breve aplicación local al contexto ecuatoriano de librerías exhibidas en fagos para encontrar antivirales para enfermedades causadas por los virus del dengue y zika.

Palabras clave: Presentación sobre fagos, péptidos lineales, péptidos cíclicos, andamiajes proteicos, anticalinas, knottins, affibodies, DARPins.

Abstract

A clear understanding of biomolecular recognition, especially during protein-protein interaction or peptide-protein interaction, is an excellent deal during processes that deviate from average and cause disease. Phage display has emerged as a beneficial technology for creating libraries containing exclusive ligands that can interfere in those interactions and serve as the seat to create novel drugs. The research focus placed on peptides has been disproportionately less than on proteins. Here, a review of diverse peptide-based libraries such as linear, cyclic, and bicyclic are described with examples that illustrate their usefulness. A description will also be provided of selected protein scaffolds (Anticalins, knottins, affibodies and DARPins) derived from natural sources that have served as a platform for constraining peptides and creating libraries been found potential to find alternatives to antibodies based therapeutics. Finally, a brief local application to the Ecuadorian context of phage displayed-based libraries to find antivirals for diseases caused by dengue and zika viruses will be given.

Keywords: Phage display, linear peptides, cyclic peptides, protein scaffolds, anticalins, knottins, affibodies, DARPins.

Contenido

SECTION I	3
1. Introduction	3
SECTION II	7
2.1. Problem Statement	7
2.2. Research Hypothesis	7
2.3. General objective	7
2.4. Specific objectives	8
SECTION III.	9
3. Linear and cyclic peptides	9
3.1. Linear peptides	9
3.2. Cyclic peptides	. 11
3.2.1. Thermodynamic characteristics	. 12
3.2.2. Classification	. 14
3.2.3. Synthesis techniques	. 16
3.2.4. Approaches to constrain a peptide	. 16
SECTION IV	. 19
4. Phage Display Technology	. 19
4.1. Details of the phage structure and display systems	. 21
4.2. Isolation methods of hits used with Phage Display screening	. 22
4.2.1. <i>in situ</i> screening	. 23
4.2.2. in vitro screening	. 23
4.2.3. in vivo screening	. 23
4.2.4. In-human screening	. 24
4.3. Challenges of Phage Display technology	. 24
SECTION V.	. 25
5. Phage display libraries	. 25
5.1. Libraries of linear peptides	. 25
5.1.1. Example	. 25
5.2. Libraries of cyclic peptides	. 26
5.2.1. Example	. 28
5.3. Libraries of bicyclic peptides	. 29
5.3.1. Example	. 31
SECTION VI	. 34
6. Protein scaffolds	. 34
6.1. Properties of protein scaffolds	. 34
6.2. Advantages of using protein scaffolds	. 35
6.3. Classification of protein scaffolds	. 36
6.3.1. Category one: Ligand-binding residues in exposed loops	. 36
6.3.2. Category two: Ligand-binding residues in secondary structures	. 42
6.4. Provider companies	. 49
SECTION VII	. 51

7. Applicability in the Ecuadorian context	51
7.1. Virology of DENV and ZIKV	52
7.2. Phage Display libraries contribution	52
SECTION VIII.	54
8. Conclusions and Recommendations	54
9. References	56

SECTION I

1. Introduction

Biomolecular recognition during intracellular and extracellular processes is essential in maintaining normal physiological functions and is one essential characteristic altered in diseases. As in many interactions, proteins play an essential role, and drug design aims to create or disrupt these connections. During the last 20 years, proteins have widely held the attention in research. A quick search in the PubMed database using the string "protein-based drugs" reveals a rise since 2000 (826 articles) compared to 2019 (>5500 articles). Although research on protein-based drugs have shown clear result as in the case of protein therapeutics and antibody (Ab) engineering, there are some limitations of proteins when it comes to crossing the cellular membrane and, therefore, tissue penetration, immunogenicity, engineering costs (Lee et al., 2019; Weil, 2014). In the face of Ab inconveniences, peptides have emerged as a promising alternative to overcome some drawbacks of proteins and at the same time offer the benefits of relatively small molecules in comparison to proteins. However, during the last decade, peptides have been relegated from focus due to several challenges accompanying their development.

Delivery of such small and unconstrained molecules such as peptide drugs through the gastrointestinal tract would prematurely lead to undesirable interactions with proteolytic enzymes and the drug's consequent degradation before reaching the site of action. This limitation leaves injections as the preferable route. In addition to peptide degrading enzymes, the liver and kidneys also contribute to clear peptide drugs from the systemic circulation (Zorzi, Middendorp, et al., 2017). Another critical challenge for peptide drugs lays in its structure. Lacking of a defined folding and structure as in the case of proteins, peptides flexibility can cause an unwanted diversity of conformational structures adopted by the polymer that negatively affect its affinity to the intended target. Nonetheless, its lowered immune activation is one fundamental characteristic that has led researchers to overcome the afore-cited challenges.

On the bright side, peptides used in pharmaceuticals are mostly naturally occurring molecules that give off amino acids (AA) that do not elicit an immune response as other harmful metabolites do. In fact, in some cases, peptides' immunogenic response is low compared to that of antibodies and recombinant proteins (Gang et al., 2018; Weil, 2014). Another essential advantage of peptides is comparable compatibility and specificity. This opens a potential opportunity to alter protein-protein interactions (PPIs). PPIs are involved in various bioprocesses such as targeted protein degradation, signaling cascades, ion transportation, transcription of nucleic acids, and DNA repair (Akbulut & Olmez, 2016; Lee et al., 2019). Altering these communications by reaching the interaction site through a peptide can produce a more pragmatic way of dealing with a process of interest. A clear understanding of the main contributors for biomolecular recognition to take place pointed to peptides as coprotagonists, especially when it comes to bioprocess gone wrong as in several maladies such as gastrointestinal ailments caused by hormone peptide malfunction, immune responses such as inflammation, and even neurodegenerative disease and cancer (Browne, 1999; Picco et al., 2016; Woods et al., 2018).

This renewed interest has brought forth a research branch that focuses on peptide-protein Interactions (PepPI). As a result, the number of peptide-based drugs has increased since the year 2000. A search in the PubMed database using the string "peptide-based drugs" reveals a six-fold increase in the spam of 20 years since 2000. The development of peptide drugs initiated back in 1920 when insulin was isolated from pork and sheep and entered the market (Bozovicar & Bratkovi, 2020). Around thirty years later, synthetic peptides oxytocin and vasopressin also came into development. In the following years, biotechnological developments in genetic engineering, including solid phase peptide synthesis (SPPS), opened massive peptide production that lowered production cost.

Additionally, until 2016 more than 50 peptide drugs entered clinical trials (Akbulut & Olmez, 2016). According to a global analysis, future development for peptide therapeutics

predicted that in an eight-year span that ends in 2024, the sector will experience a 9.1% compound annual growth. (Lee et al., 2019).

Peptide interactions are not limited to proteins but also include "lipids, nucleotides or metabolites" (Akbulut & Olmez, 2016) as well as a variety of biomolecules present in physiological media that can potentially alter peptide structure. Therefore, peptides' flexibility poses a challenge that affects the affinity and selectivity of the peptide for the target. This particularity is highlighted if a screening process is involved in the investigation. These processes include phage display (Ph.D.), mRNA display, yeast display, bacterial cell surface display, ribosome display among others. In this circumstance, it is desirable to have the peptide constrained under a stabilizing structure. Consequently, biological scaffolds play an important role in peptide engineering development.

Ph.D., which can be performed *in vivo*, contrast with other display methods such as mRNA which is strictly an *in vitro* system. mRNA have also been used to discover novel peptides for biomedical applications, a similar endeavor as Ph.D. In mRNA display peptides are covalently linked to its corresponding mRNA tag through a artificial spacer whereas Ph.D. makes use of bacteriophages capsid proteins to display the library of peptides. Every display method presents its own advantages and challenges. mRNA display have the advantage of allowing the introduction of nonnatural aminoacids and being an *in vitro* method, does not require a transformation step. Thus, the variability of the library increases. Another important advantage is a notorious simplification of the PCR amplification procedure (Y. Huang et al., 2019). A disadvantage of mRNA is the potential for nonspecific binding of positively charged proteins which conform an important fraction of the protein genome (Lamboy et al., 2008). mRNA technique is not fully functional for proteins that require post translational modification and also the environment have to be RNAase free wich add to the work of providing clean spaces (Cotten et al., 2011).

In this graduation thesis, a comparative review between linear peptides, peptides constrained by one or two disulfide bonds, and peptides under protein scaffolds will be

provided. Particularly, how these different approaches have networked with the 2018 Nobel laureate technology of Ph.D. to create libraries used in several medical applications will also be addressed. As an additional local contribution, how these technologies have been applied to investigate different approaches to treat infectious diseases in Ecuador caused by Dengue and Zika viruses will be briefly discussed.

SECTION II

2.1.Problem Statement

Although antibody engineering has produced consistent results as evidenced by many FDA-approved monoclonal antibodies to treat diseases that include cancer, there are some inherent limitations of Abs regarding size, immunogenicity, and consequent side effects. Therefore, there is a need to develop alternative molecules with similar affinity and selectivity that at the same time can induce the desired outcome. In this endeavor, Ph.D. technology makes possible the creation of libraries with diverse conformations of peptides and proteins. The structure in which a peptide is presented to the target is an essential factor to create a drug with an excellent pharmacological profile. Linear peptides have an inherent instability and high entropy that limits their applicability.

Conversely, peptides constrained by themselves (e.g., cyclic/bicyclic peptides) or peptides that use an underlying protein scaffold show more potential to become alternatives to Absbased molecules. Thus, diverse structures that exist in nature have been mimicked to engineer scaffolds. Its field of application can include diseases present in Ecuador, such as the ones caused by dengue and zika viruses.

2.2. Research Hypothesis

A contemporary and relevant body of research and literature contains information regarding creating protein scaffolds for creating peptides displaying libraries that show potential for translation in drug development and offer an alternative to antibody-based therapeutics.

2.3.General objective

To provide a review document that highlights constrained peptides, focusing in protein scaffolds, used for elaborating Ph.D.-based libraries along with significant evidence in the literature of some of the results achieved.

2.4. Specific objectives

- To analyze the superiority of constrained structures in peptides based on its respective thermodynamic profiles.
- To describe the structure and synthesis of cyclic peptides and how they are used in combination with Ph.D. technology in medicine.
- To describe the structure and examples of two categories of protein scaffolds and how they are combined with Ph.D. technology to be used as alternatives to Absbased drugs.
- To suggest an application of Ph.D. libraries in the Ecuadorian context to create antivirals against diseases caused by dengue and zika viruses.

SECTION III

3. Linear and cyclic peptides

3.1. Linear peptides

When it comes to peptides, especially short sequences, it is not thermodynamically favorable to fold into 3D shape as proteins do. This happens due to intra-molecular level interaction that does not favor the formation of secondary structures. So peptides tend to maintain a linear structure. But this conformation renders the peptide chain with undesirable flexibility that can lead to off-target interaction that subsequently could cause side effects. This lack of rigidity makes the peptide chain a suitable target for peptidases that lead to the molecule's degradation (Figure 1) (Rubin & Qvit, 2016). This flexibility is accentuated for sequences 2-10 AAs long; beyond this point, from 10 to 20 AAs long, secondary structures that resemble α -helices or β -strands start to emerge (Fischer et al., 2000).



Figure 1. Possible paths of linear peptides. Taken from (Rubin & Qvit, 2016)

The lack of constraints in the peptidic bonds facilitates the formation of various geometries. For shorter sequences, the peptide bond geometry makes it difficult for the backbone to assume a conformation that favors macro cyclization. For larger peptides, peptide bond geometry does not represent a challenge, but side-to-side interactions are evaded. (White & Yudin, 2011). To illustrate one of the reasons some peptides abide by a linear structure, analogously when a person tries to coil the ending of a chain, the shorter the lead portion of the chain, the more complex it is to get it coiled, and as a consequence, the peptide will stick to a linear structure.

The great majority of geometries the short linear peptide adopts are inactive, and as a consequence, the entropy is expected to be higher than a constrained peptide. Furthermore, it is challenging to assess precisely the complete thermodynamic profile of a linear peptide because a referential stable state of the peptide is lacking. This means the peptide adopts numerous conformations and stabilities (Camacho et al., 2008). The ambiguity regarding its structure, particularly for shorter linear peptides, is responsible in part for the vague role that they play when the target requires a more stable ligand (Empting, 2017).

The well-known Lipinski rule of five suggests that for a drug to be orally active, the number of hydrogen bond donors should not exceed 5, and hydrogen bond acceptors should be 10 at most (Mullard, 2018). Even a peptide chain as short as 10 residues can surpass those requirements of the Lipinski rule. Additionally, in a linear peptide lacking a defined secondary structure, its unfavorable hydrogen bonds are exposed to the medium's interaction. This hurts the peptide permeability, which in turn is associated with oral bioavailability (Wang & Craik, 2016).

Although there are traditional and contemporary chemical methodologies to obtain a cyclic peptide (CP) from the linear precursor, it does not imply that linear peptides should by any means be considered as of little to no use biomolecules that cannot exert biological activities. Approximations point to endogenous linear peptides to be modulators of 15% to 40% of PPI described (Rubin & Qvit, 2016). A comparison of linear peptides and their cyclized equivalents regarding cancer-targeting properties revealed that the linear peptides outperform cyclic ones under some circumstances.

For example, integrins are a transmembrane family that acts as receptors that anchor ligands from the extracellular matrix to the cell's surface. Eight members of this protein family are directly linked to tumor progression (Nieberler et al., 2017). A structure activity study evaluated the binding affinity of (arginine-glycine-aspartic acid) RGD containing linear and CP to RGD integrin's binding motif. Researchers found that the linear RGD bound to a specific integrin subtype ($\alpha_5\beta_1$) showed a 4 times greater affinity than specific CP. But cyclization in other cases did improve binding affinity. Additionally, recognition by the intended receptor does not require cyclic conformation due to a stable enough linear structure (Roxin & Zheng, 2012). Although this shows the utility of linear peptides, CP has found a broader application field, especially concerning Ph.D.

3.2. Cyclic peptides

The importance of correct folding for proteins to exert the intended function is textbook knowledge well established and widely accepted. By adopting a tertiary structure and folding into the 3D entity, proteins become stable enough to play their determined function. Evidence shows that CP withstands hydrolytic degradation better than linear ones (Díaz-Eufracio et al., 2018; Tapeinou et al., 2015). To expand its pharmacokinetic profile, cell permeability is also improved in several cases (Bockus et al., 2013). A constrained peptide does not conform to the required structure that allows recognition by catalytic endo and exopeptidases to off-target proteins that can potentially lead to side effects. (Figure 2) (Bhardwaj et al., 2016; Prabu-Jeyabalan et al., 2002; Rubin & Qvit, 2016). Besides, as it will be further explained, specific paths for cyclization lead to reduced polarity and hydrogen acceptors and donors (Empting, 2017). All the previously mentioned progress using different approaches to perform the cyclization process has contributed to upgrading this compound classically regarded as "undruggable".



Figure 2. Advantages of cyclic peptides. Protein A.2 is the target

3.2.1. Thermodynamic characteristics

While in the case of CP derived from a linear precursor, presumably, it would be more feasible to obtain information about the thermodynamic profile, a clear understanding at the molecular level of concepts such as configurational entropy has not been reached yet (H. Huang et al., 2021). Nevertheless, some efforts have been made. In contrast to linear peptides, which lack a reference point, the constrained structure of CP has enabled the assessment of entropy and enthalpy values that are related to the free Gibbs energy of binding by the formula:

$$\Delta G = \Delta H - T \Delta S \tag{1}$$

Where: ΔG : Gibbs free energy; ΔH : Enthalpy; $T\Delta S$: Entropy; R: Universal gas constant

T: *Temperature*; K_d : dissociation constant

From (1) it can be noted that for a process, cyclization of a linear peptide, to be spontaneous, has to be favorable either entropically or enthalpically. It has been found that there is an interplay of both factors in the process of cyclization, as it will be shown in the next paragraphs. A study evaluated the thermodynamics of the bonds between PDZ10 and

serotonin receptor type 2c (5HT_{2c}). PDZ10 is the tenth PDZ domain of 13 that comprises MUPP1 (Multiple PDZ-containing Protein). MUPP1 plays an essential role in synaptic organization and plasticity (Donaldson et al., 2016). Sharma and collaborators obtained three linear peptides (controls) from the PDZ domain partner protein and two cyclic analogs; one CP had two controls. The linear peptides were in some manner a "precyclized" version. Through isothermal titration calorimetry (ITC), they obtained thermodynamic characteristics. CPs were obtained from replacing one residue in each peptide (Glu and Leu, respectively) and a subsequent coupling through a β -alanine linker that prompted the bridging. They concluded that for "Cyclic-1 and Cyclic-2, nearly total enthalpy-entropy compensation was observed, and in both cases, entropy is the dominant factor" (S. C. Sharma et al., 2007). Nevertheless, in comparison to the linear peptides, the free energy of binding of linear and cyclic did not show significant differences in the results as they were very similar.

Its internal dynamic changes have to be noted through a thorough analysis of a cyclized peptide's thermodynamics. These changes impact the enthalpy-entropy compensations and therefore impact the free energy of binding (Wang et al., 2015). Wang and colleagues used Nuclear Magnetic Resonance techniques to characterize precisely molecules in motion and assess their internal dynamics. This technology has proved beneficial to determine, for example, that head-to-tail cyclization confers the peptide backbone a rigid assembly and, as a consequence, shows a decrease in amide temperature coefficient. Data obtained through NMR relaxation, a sophisticated technique to study protein flexibility, used in conjunction with molecular dynamics (MD), enabled a group of researchers to determine the internal dynamics of mono and poly cycle peptides. The data showed that switching the disulfide bond, which plays an essential role in the internal peptide dynamics, reduces rigidity (Wang et al., 2015). Although this result seems obvious, it will be detailed in sections 3.2 and 3.3 how inserting disulfide bonds has been very useful in cancer therapy and research.

3.2.2. Classification

CPs first appeared in nature. In the light of the benefits and all the potential they harbor, we have witnessed the emergence of techniques to simulate nature and synthetically generate CP. A brief overview of the synthesis of natural peptides that have shown clinical potential will be given in the following sections. Afterward, a summary of the synthetic approaches to obtain CP will be mentioned, with a particular focus on those that are compatible with Ph.D. screening technology.

Nature has evolved bringing multiple CP of many organisms, from bacteria, marine organisms to plants and mushrooms. They have been isolated and classified over the last decades (Morewood & Nitsche, 2020). Although a thorough understanding of some cyclization processes has been reached for some peptides, there are still 'unanswered questions' that ongoing research is trying to address. The knowledge reached has enabled scientists to combine this knowledge with molecular engineering tools to develop synthetic peptides. CP can be either biosynthesized by ribosomes and go through enzymatic post-translational modification (RiPPs) or have a non-ribosomal origin (NRP).

3.2.2.1. Ribosomally synthesized and post-translationally modified peptides (RiPPs)

Many RiPPs have entered clinical trials to treat maladies such as cancer or vasoconstriction and are also used as antimicrobial agents (Singh & Abraham, 2014; Takase et al., 2019). It could directly serve to develop new drugs or unveil novel targets (Ting et al., 2019). They are present in Archaea, Bacteria, and Eukarya, and the genomes sequenced so far from these domains give evidence of the abundance of the biosynthetic genes (Arnison et al., 2013). The post-translational modifications experienced by the peptide bestow it with an extensive display of possible chemical conformation. Macro cyclization being one of them.

The enzymes in charge of post-translational cyclization of the peptide have to surmount some challenges. One of them is the length of the precursor peptide. Each class of natural CP undergoes its particular process at a certain level, accompanying a specific set of enzyme cyclization that ultimately gives its particular properties, but they all share some typical phases as RiPP's. As a general description of the process, a precursor peptide is expressed by the known ribosomal path. As in all peptides, it poses an N-terminus, the head, also called the leader sequence that is usually recognized by the biosynthetic apparatus to start the pronation and cyclization of the core peptides, which commonly have more than one copy. After recognizing and binding the leader sequence or, less often, the C-terminus, the core peptide is enzymatically modified to give off not just several macrocyclic peptides but heterocycles, D-amino acids, lanthionine, or sactionine cross-links (Sikandar & Koehnke, 2019). The best representative classes of RiPP's are Cyanobactins, Lanthipeptides, Thiopeptides, and CPs from mushrooms and plants.

3.2.2.2. Non-Ribosomal Peptides (NRP)

This class of biosynthesized peptides has proven beneficial in affecting many biological activities. Notable examples are vancomycin, which acts as an antibiotic; cyclosporine A, which acts as an immunosuppressant, bleomycin which acts as an anticancer agent (Schwarzer et al., 2003). A significant number of these natural peptide products underwent macro cyclization of their peptidic backbone. As mentioned earlier, a macrocyclic structure provides the molecule properties such as a more rigid conformation, improved membrane permeability, and proteolytic resistance.

The biosynthesis is carried out by mega-enzymes called Non-Ribosomal Peptide Synthetases (NRPSs). These enzymes are subdivided into modules that are in control of the addition of residues into the NRP. In turn, each module contains at minimum three primary domains, adenylation, peptidyl carrier protein, and condensation. These submodules carry out selection, activation, loading, and condensation to obtain a NRP. The thioesterase (TE) domain carries out the termination step (Konno et al., 2017). This domain is in charge of liberating the precursor as a macrocyclic-containing peptide (Sieber & Marahiel, 2003). The role TE domain plays has motivated research to engineer TE to produce non-natural macrocyclic NRP.

3.2.3. Synthesis techniques

One of the earliest techniques chemist devised to engineer peptides was solutionphase peptide synthesis (SPS), a technique started in the last century (Du Vigneaud et al., 1953). When the peptide could not adopt a secondary structure (like α -helices or β -sheets) spontaneously, they aimed to convert peptides into "druggable" entities by focusing on backbone constrain for which several protocols were designed. However, SPS allowed the synthesis of constrained peptides with a certain ease, the exhausting process of purification that included many repetitions, caused in some cases a toll in the yield of the peptide product (Tapeinou et al., 2015).

Solid-phase peptide synthesis (SPPS) overcome these limitations. SPPS was started after ten years since SPS (Merrifield, 1963). According to the nature website, SPPS is the "synthesis of chemical compounds whereby the reactant molecule is chemically bound to an insoluble material and reagents are added in the solution-phase" (NatureISSN, 2021). Besides peptide synthesis, SPPS has also used for nucleic acids and oligosaccharides synthesis. The purification is performed with less effort than SPS. SPPS also have a versatility that tolerates the chemical variety of AA structures. CPs obtained using this technology are used for screening proteins (Gang et al., 2018).

3.2.4. Approaches to constrain a peptide

Peptidomimetics, a group of peptides that undergoes rational chemical modification (Bock et al., 2013), comprises multiple techniques to obtain a looped structure in a process that usually takes several steps. Among the modifications are residues substitution, L to D isomerization, cyclization, N-methylation, PEGylation, and incorporation of structural restraints such as disulfide bonds (Qvit et al., 2017; Tapeinou et al., 2015). Cyclization by artificial means using a combination of peptidomimetics techniques.

Depending on the nature of the bonds attaching one AA to the other, CPs are classified as 'homodetic' if only peptidic bonds are involved; or 'heterodetic' if AAs are connected through other functional groups (Tapeinou et al., 2015). The following strategies are currently designated to describe the constraints placed in a macrocycle. Having a linear peptide as a substrate, the standard cyclization methods commonly used are described next and illustrated in Figure 3.

- Head to tail cyclization. When both *termini* of the chain are joined together, the C-terminus to the N-terminus, it's called head-to-tail cyclization.
- Cyclotide. Additional disulfide bonds reinforce a head-to-tail cyclization. Side chain to either of the terminals' cyclization. Whichever terminal, N or C, of the peptide attaches to the side chain.
- Side chain to side-chain cyclization. Two side-chain AAs are attached through homodetic and heterodetic AAs.
- Disulfide bond. A bond formed between two cysteines attached by the thiol groups.
- Thioether. When a cysteine residue of a side chain is attached through its thiol group to the α-carbon of a residue.



Figure 3. Types of cyclization for a generic peptide chain. Not all aminoacids are shown the backbone is drawn in thin line.

Of all the previously stated strategies, only the ones compatible with Ph.D. technology will be expanded to show how cyclization and display tools can act synergytically to obtain bioactive molecules. A CP per se can act as a scaffold that can be used with Ph.D. But proteinic scaffolds have also been developed with good results and will be reviewed here.

SECTION IV

4. Phage Display Technology

The quest for finding new biologically active molecules with applicability in translational medicine and research has encountered many challenges. For example, the abundant number of candidates and the possible modifications they can undergo to maximize the affinity for the intended target. Ph.D. emerged in 1985 when G. Smith demonstrated that bacteriophages (short phage) could 'display' polypeptides in their capsid proteins (Smith, 1985), and shortly after in the nineties served as an essential start the establishment of Ab engineering (Almagro et al., 2019). Ph.D. offers a significant contribution to overcome some of the challenges to the point of being awarded the Nobel prize in 2018. Bacteriophages are viruses that, in colloquial terms, hijack bacteria.



Figure 4. Process of replication of T7 bacteriophage. (1) infection. (2) replication inside the cell. (3) release into the medium. (4). Capturing by the immobilized target. Taken from (Bozovicar & Bratkovi, 2020)

As the name suggests, bacteriophages infect only bacterial cells that readily replicate the viral genetic material, which is susceptible to modification and able to self-assembly (Goracci et al., 2020). The high yield of phages by bacteria (usually *Escherichia coli*) allows a high throughput of clones that express foreign peptides or proteins along with the phage coat proteins (Figure 4). Foreign genetic material is classically inserted into protein

III (pIII) or protein VIII (pVIII) genes that codify the phage capsid. This particularity gives Ph.D. the characteristic of literally linking phenotype to genotype in a specific phage which is of great practical utility during the isolation process. This linkage also ensures that from each clone of *E. coli*. an exact copy of phages will be produced (Bazan et al., 2012).

The library is constructed via cloning of combinatorial DNA sequences. Once the library is created, it must be amplified to facilitate manipulation of a process usually carried out via the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) technique. To complete the selection method, or biopanning process, there are four additional steps to complete. The first step consists of conjugating the prepared Ph.D. library and the target molecule for a determined time. It is expected that only library member clones with the highest affinity are bound to the target molecule. The following procedure is the washing step. It helps get rid of unbound clones. The third step involves three or four rounds of elution that ensures mostly high-affinity bound targets are obtained. In the final step of biopanning, the selected clones or 'hits' are reintroduced in bacteria to amplify them and recover a more 'neat' library that can undergo further maturation processes (Figure 5) (Saw & Song, 2019; C. Wu et al., 2016).



Figure 5. Overview of the library creation and biopanning process.

4.1. Details of the phage structure and display systems

With approximately 10^{31} particles on our planet, bacteriophages constitute the "most abundant and biologically diverse entities" (Dafale et al., 2016). But only five are wellmatched to be used in Ph.D. M13 and fd filamentous phage are the preferred option; however, T4, T7, and λ (lambda) phage have been investigated as well. They differ in size and shape. The size of M13 is 900x7 nm; it has an elongated construction that includes filaments in the tail region (Goracci et al., 2020). M13, as previously stated, presents two zones in the capsid open to genetic insertion with tolerable alteration of the structure. These are pIII and pVIII proteins. The display of peptides on each one of these systems has its particularities.

The minor coat protein, pIII, is composed of 406 residues. Ordinarily, there are 3 to 5 duplicates of this protein positioned at the far end of the phage (Bazan et al., 2012). In contrast, pVIII proteins are located along the phage's body and are composed of 50 AAs (Nemudraya et al., 2016). It is estimated that the phage contains around 2700 duplicates of pVIII protein (Aghebati-Maleki et al., 2016). For the display of libraries, fusions with pIII protein are more popular because they allow for more extensive peptides or proteins to be inserted (>100 amino acids) and widely used for Ab display. Whereas pVIII fusions only allow for short peptide insertions (6-7 AAs), cysteine residues must be absent to preserve phage functionality (Bazan et al., 2012; Saw & Song, 2019). This constraint represents a shortcoming for displaying CPs which use cysteine bonding.

The higher number of copies displayed with pVIII proteins offers a higher avidity of binding than pIII displayed libraries. This high avidity impacts target-peptide affinity negatively. Consequently, the dissociation constants of pVIII ligands are between 10–100 μ M, and for ligands that use pIII it is 1-10 μ M (Noren & Noren, 2001). This translates to ligands having a very low affinity in pVIII display while pIII display offers high-affinity ligands. This aspect has not prevented scientists from building useful libraries based on pVIII display.

The following sections will provide details into how Ph.D. technology has been explicitly combined with peptide libraries. It will show how advancement in research and understanding of CPs contributed to creating different libraries that have encountered practical applications in academia and medicine. Also, a combination of CPs with an underlying protein scaffold can act synergistically to improve drug properties.

$$\Delta G = RT \ln K_d \tag{2}$$

$$K_d = \frac{[R][L]}{[R*L]} \tag{3}$$

An essential specification before describing the subsequent libraries and examples is to define Kd. This value is provided as validation for many investigations that are detailed in the following sections. This element in equation (2) does not only serve to offer an insight into how well a cyclization process was performed but also shed light on how strong is the interaction between ligand and target. The lower the value, the stronger the attachment between ligand and receptor and the higher the affinity. This is following the aftermath of the natural logarithm function of Kd: the lower the value, the more harmful it becomes and the more significant the contribution to the spontaneity of the process (Salahudeen & Nishtala, 2017). In equation (3) [R] and [L] are the concentrations of receptor and ligand, respectively; and is another equation to obtain Kd as a metric of ligand quality.

4.2. Isolation methods of hits used with Phage Display screening

Diverse methods are currently used to isolate hits from a pool of peptides using Ph.D. screening. Examples are *in situ, in vivo, ex vivo* and *in vitro*. Development of diverse isolation methods is a field that have been advancing on its own and there is research even around in-human direct selection.

4.2.1. in situ screening

This method does not involve any living system such as cell culture or animal model and is the simplest among isolation methods. It only requires the target to be coated on a 96-well (Saw & Song, 2019). As the target does not inherently own the coating, the replicability in a living system can be challenging (Kim et al., 2012).

4.2.2. in vitro screening

Literally meaning 'in glass', these experimetns are designed taking cell's components to the 'pool' of peptides to observe the reaction and determine the feasibility of switching to an *in vivo* setting. *In vitro methods* can also utilize whole cell lines or primary cells to determine wich peptides specifically bind to them. This approach have the advantage that cells and its components maintain its structure and activities. The protocol for this methods is flexible and can be modified to select for internalized peptides in the cell, or also to select for peptides that bind to the surface allowing identification of potentially novel cell surface receptor (C. Wu et al., 2016).

4.2.3. in vivo screening

This selection method was first described in 1996 (Pasqualini & Ruoslahti, 1996). It is performed in a living animal and can be used to determine how the peptide interact in an entire system. Also to check if there is organ specificity which is an important characteristic for a drug and for an imaging agent. The procedure involves the insertion of the peptide pool into the animal via intravenous injection followed by a time window so the peptide can bind to the intended organ (Lo et al., 2008). Tipically, 3-5 roud of biopanning are carried out to reach desired tissue specificity. The major setback of this method is the successful replicability of the experiment in humans due to potentially poor translation among different animal species (C. Wu et al., 2016).

4.2.4. In-human screening

To overcome the replicability of *in vivo* experiments, since 2002 efforts are being put to perfectionate the selection of hits directly in human individuals (Arap et al., 2002). There are FDA approved experiments involving cancer patients that use analogous techniques (Krag et al., 2006).

4.3.Challenges of Phage Display technology

On the other side, Ph.D. is not without drawbacks that significantly affect its use. If the library comprises peptides that contain disulfide bridges as some cyclic and biCPs, it is only feasible to work in a non-reducing environment, meaning that *in-vivo* testing is limited because of its proclivity to undergo reduction (Roxin & Zheng, 2012). The translation of selected clones to the therapeutic application is still a challenge for compounds selected by Ph.D. because some important drug properties such as oral bioavailability, cell permeability, and solubility are not the best. Additionally, Ph.D. is limited to the use of the 20 essential AAs. If further diversity is required, synthetic chemistry techniques should be used.

SECTION V

5. Phage display libraries

5.1.Libraries of linear peptides

When Smith first demonstrated the possibility of displaying molecules on the phage's pIII protein, he made an exhibition of linear peptides. From that moment, the methods used for displaying peptides and proteins using this technology have improved notably. Nevertheless, displaying linear peptides still 'get the job done' for many researchers. As will be evidenced in the examples provided, sometimes linear structures are preferred over CPs.

Although there are abundant examples in the literature, some of the results obtained using Ph.D. of linear peptides will be given now. There are multiple linear peptide libraries created by commercial companies like Creative Biolabs, Pepscan, and New England Biolabs structured by as few as 4 residues up to 20. The upper limit on the length of a linear peptide library is placed because for longer polypeptides, the chances it starts to adopt some tertiary structure increases, including some turns and folds. Further details of commercially available libraries will be given in section 6.4

5.1.1. Example

Linear peptide libraries composed of 7 and 12 residues were used along with one CP library of 7 residues. Hartmann and colleagues' aim in the research was to identify peptide mimotopes that could give rise to a similar Ab response as the one elicited with monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) for cancer therapy. Cetuximab and matuzumab are two mAbs that target epidermal growth factor receptors (EGFR) and act by inhibiting the receptor's tyrosine kinase action. Fragments of both mAbs were displayed on the *E. coli*. Cell surface. M13KE, a derivative of M13 bacteriophage, was selected for a library display. Both displaying methods were combined, employing a technique called delayed infectivity panning (DIP). By combining linear and cyclic libraries, they were able to identify two

peptides that were selected using fragments of matuzumab mAbs but which had the particularity of presenting cross-reactivity to cetuximab fragments as well. Common motifs of these peptides were identified as KTL and YPLG, and after performing animal experiments, they concluded that these peptides 'could induce anti-EGFR antibodies with antitumoral activity' (Hartmann et al., 2010). One of these peptides was selected from the linear peptide library, and the second from the CP library highlighting the significance of using a linear peptide library for this research outcome.

A preclinical study focused on developing active immunotherapy for cancer also used a library of linear peptides using PhD. They target carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), a protein that shows elevated adenocarcinomas levels, especially in colorectal cancer tissues (Canadian Cancer Society, 2018). The study aimed to develop a vaccine based on a mimotope. This mimotope would be identified using two PhD libraries. These libraries was displayed using pIII display system. As in the previous example, this team used a combination of cyclic and linear libraries. The linear peptide library was composed of nine residues (LL9), and the cyclic library was constrained using disulfide bonds and consisted of 10 residues (CL10). Subsequently, they performed rounds of biopanning with an anti-CEA Ab Col-1. Although the team obtained 7 'hits' that showed specificity to Col-1, only one of them was selected to develop the mimotope. The winner was the one obtained using the linear peptide library, which is named COL2. The result was a functioning inhibitor of tumors with high CEA levels (Brämswig et al., 2007). This is evidence of the feasibility of creating imitative B-cell epitopes that can have candidates develop active immune therapies.

5.2.Libraries of cyclic peptides

The conversion from linear to CP conformation can be bridged using different methodologies, and each one has its advantages and challenges. CPs per se can be used as structural scaffolds in which diverse peptides can be displayed using different technologies
such as Ph.D., mRNA display or split- intein circular ligation of peptides and proteins (SICLOPPS) (Sohrabi et al., 2020). The last two are not discussed in the present work.

The combination of Ph.D. technology and CPs has resulted in many publications and some clinical applications, as evidenced by the examples given in section 3.2.1. Nature evidence that the most habitual form of cyclization comes from disulfide bonds. Libraries based on Ph.D. have used this particularity to improve the performance of this technology. It consists of constraining a peptide, adding two cysteine residues at the borders. If these AAs are placed in a non-reducing environment, they will spontaneously form disulfide bonds (Figure 6). This constituted the earliest cyclic Ph.D. libraries and is still in use.



Figure 6. On-phage cyclization through oxidation.

The length of the peptide displayed on the library varies depending on the application. There are documented cases of libraries displaying four to ten residues flanked by a pair of cysteine (Deyle et al., 2017; McLafferty et al., 1993; O'Neil et al., 1992). Frequently the residues were laid out in a $X_1CX_mCX_n$ arrangement in the bacteriophage. X is a genetically encoded AA (proteinogenic); m can take values between 4 and 10. For 1 and n the value falls between 0 and 4. If 1 and n are 0 and m equals 7, we get a heptapeptide library (CX₇C) which have been broadly used to identify targets such as enzymes, cytokines, transporter, and receptor proteins (Rubin & Qvit, 2016; Saw & Song, 2019; Sohrabi et al., 2020).

Several biotechnological improvements positively affected the way CPs and Ph.D. work together. From reagents enhancement e.g., DNA polymerases to boost the transformation efficiency of E. coli. cells by using electrocompetent cells. Novel cloning methods have also fostered the use of Ph.D. Gibson assembly is a faster and low-cost cloning method

than conventional one as it requires fewer reagents, and a consequence more extensive libraries can be created (Deyle et al., 2017). Cyclization performed on phage is another modification worth mentioning as it allows for the formation of macrocycles in a primary linear peptide (Figure 6). It also opened the way to creating bicyclic peptides, which will be addressed in the coming section. All the previous progress made has resulted in shortening the gap to reach challenging targets and improve the affinity of 'hits.'

5.2.1. Example

Wrighton and colleagues give a very striking example which illustrates the utility of Ph.D.. In this investigation, both display methods that M13 bacteriophage tolerates were employed in different stances (pIII and pVIII display methods). The team wanted to single out a molecule that can elicit a similar response as human erythropoietin (EPO) in the organism, that is, to initiate and regulate erythropoiesis by binding to EPO receptor (EPOR) (Middleton et al., 1999). EPO is a glycoprotein cytokine hormone of around 34 kDa and interacts with EPOR, a transmembrane homodimer protein of 66kDa that is part of a superfamily called cytokines receptors (Suzuki et al., 2015). This process ends with the production of erythrocytes that are in charge of bringing oxygen to tissues and constitutes an essential process for maintaining homeostasis.

Two portions of the intracellular domain of EPOR get closer to each other once the ligand molecule of EPO binds, starting the signaling process in target cells. This interaction is carried out through short epitopes. Therefore, a peptide that interacts with EPOR and produces a similar biological response was desired. During the first phase, where the team had to identify a clone of the motif of EPO, they used a cyclic octapeptide library displayed on pVIII of M13 bacteriophage. A peptide named AF11154 with the sequence CRIGPITWVC was identified and synthetically built. The peptide did compete against EPO for an immobilized soluble EPOR and presented an affinity of around 10 μ M. To produce higher affinity ligands, they generated mutagenesis libraries from the AF11154 peptide. As the goal was to increase affinity, the library was displayed using pIII coat

protein. The library ON1963 served to identify 5 peptides that were cyclized and showed 10 - 50 stronger affinity for EPOR than AF11154. Interestingly, when the linear counterparts of these five peptides were tested, they showed 1000x reduced affinity. CPs of around 2 kDa proved to elicit a biological response similar to that of 34 kDa EPO (Wrighton et al., 1996).

To improve the selected peptides' performance and bring them to the clinical onset, they were PEGylated (polyethylene glycol-PEG). The combined compound named peginesatide had improved solubility and longer circulation time in blood. It was administered in patients with renal malfunction once a month. Although initially approved because patients showed normal hemoglobin levels and controlled anemia, the compound was withdrawn from the market due to safety concerns (Deyle et al., 2017). But its example illustrates very well the functionality and versatility of PhD.

5.3.Libraries of bicyclic peptides

Examples of bicyclic peptides exist in nature, e.g., phalloidin, a deadly toxin found in some mushrooms. Other bicyclic peptides make valuable tools for research. They usually have a molecular weight near 1 - 3 kDa (Deyle et al., 2017). Although bicycle peptides can be formed using various chemistries, only those configured using disulfide bonds and chemical linkers will be addressed here.

As mentioned earlier, as the peptide length increases, resemblances of secondary conformations and some folds and turns start to appear. Consequently, linear and monocycle peptides can progressively gain flexibility and become unstable or be enzymatically degraded. By adopting a double ring structure, an oversized unstable monocyclic can reduce its entropy as the original ring size will be narrowed and result in two rings. Each ring's function could be independent of each other as in the case that one serves for cellular access whereas the other does the target critical task (Rhodes & Pei, 2017).

Bicyclic peptides can incorporate additional rigidity to the peptide conformation concerning monocyclic ones, making them even less likely to be broken down by proteases. An increased binding affinity is achieved partly due to a reduction in the entropy involved in the molecule interaction. Besides, the twofold rings broaden the surface of contact with the target and result in a steadier interface (Chen et al., 2013).

The library construction process usually starts from a linear precursor or a monocyclic one. The precursor is then chemically modified by cysteine residues that form disulfide bonds as in monocyclic peptides. Usually, three fixed cysteines are involved in the binding and a chemical linker molecule that ties together the three cysteines. A possible conformation can be ACX_6CX_6CG . The linkers can be compounds such as TBMB, TATA, TBAB, TBMT, TATB. Its structure is schematized in figure 7. Varying the linkers and the quantity of AAs in each ring contributes to increasing the library's diversity. The more diverse the combinatorial library, the better the affinity of the isolated binders (Deyle et al., 2017).



Figure 7. Top: example of a bicyclic library using a linker. Bottom: classical linkers used to obtain bicyclic peptides.

An alternative method developed to obtain bicyclic peptides libraries is that starting from a sequence like XmCXnCXoCXp, bicyclic peptides can be pulled out because a fourth cysteine can appear from any of the X positions. Statistic states that for a library with CX_6CX_6C the probability of the peptide having four cysteines is 26% (Chen et al., 2013). The four cysteines then can bind and form disulfide bonds which simplify the procedure of creating a library of bicyclic peptides and makes them accessible to less specialized laboratories.

5.3.1. Example

Urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) is a serine protease that is involved in cancer metastasis. More specifically, it contributes to the deterioration of the extracellular matrix, which facilitates the migration of cancerous cells away from the first point of defect to reach normal tissue (Mahmood et al., 2018). When uPA interacts with its receptor uPAR, they form a system that is thought to be involved not just as a proteolytic entity but rather accompany the tumor process from the beginning to the point of metastasis (Duffy, 2005). Identification of high levels of uPA in cancerous tissues has led researchers to target this protein.

It was desired to have bicyclic peptides inhibitors for uPA. A library was designed with the configuration ACX_6CX_6CG and displayed using the pIII coat protein. For the chemical cyclization, the linker TBMB was used (Figure 8). There were 19 peptides identified that had two consensus sequences, one at each ring, respectively. This was a positive characteristic because it indicates a reasonable specificity of the targets isolated (Deyle et al., 2017). Ligands bound to the second consensus group presented a stronger binding. The selected peptide named UK18 had an inhibitor constant (K_i) of 53nM (Angelini et al., 2012).



Figure 8. The schematization of the bicyclic library is displayed on pIII. Taken from (Sohrabi et al., 2020)

As the findings of this research experiment showed promise, in-vivo experiments were carried out. For bicyclic peptides, this was the first time being tested in-vivo. Linear, monocyclic and bicyclic versions of UK18 were incubated in blood plasma. An essential portion of the bicyclic UK18 kept its original conformation. This was not the case for the other two analogs. The relevant point was that UK18 was less stable when the rings were cyclized independently. This leads to presume that each ring synergistically contributes to the overall stability of the bicyclic molecule (Deyle et al., 2017). When UK18 was tested with tumor tissues, the peptide's functionality and conformation were excellent, but unfortunately, tumor growth was not stopped (Pollaro et al., 2015). This experiment shed important information on the nature and particularities of bicyclic peptides and how to combine them with Ph.D.

A clever technique was developed in another very recent experiment to introduce 'unprecedented' variability to macrocycle libraries' scaffolding (Kale et al., 2018). As a result, high-affinity ligands for plasma kallikrein were isolated using Ph.D. The novel technique consisted of using 4 cysteines, which will form disulfide bonds through two chemical linkers on a library of CXmCXnCXoC where m, n, and o are the random numbers AAs. Scaffold diversity is expanded if AAs are displayed, exploiting all the possible combinations and because the two chemical linkers can connect two pairs of cysteine in three alternative ways. By applying this methodology to a nonapeptide, 63 possible macrocyclic scaffolds in the library use two chemical linkers (Figure 9) (Kale et al., 2018).

Plasma kallikrein levels can rise in the body and cause an excess in the release of bradykinin to the point of causing hereditary angioedema responsible for swelling episodes (Banerji et al., 2017). Using the novel technique previously described, the team could isolate a very active inhibitor denominated PK2 (Ki= 0.5 ± 0.1 nM) (Kale et al., 2018). This peptide's particularity is its low molecular weight (~1kDa) and high stability compared to other inhibitors that are either bigger or present a decreased binding affinity. Thus, it is a potential candidate from which oral drug delivery could be plotted.

example with 8 amino acids		
C X X X X X C C	C X X X X C C C	c x x x c c x c x c x c x c
C X X X X C X C	C X X X C X C C	C X X C X C X C C C X X C
C X X X C X X C	CXXCXXCC	C X C X X C X C C X C C X
C X X C X X X C	CXCXXXCC	C C X X X C X C C C X C X
C X C X X X X C	C C X X X X C C	C X X C C X X C C C C X X
C C X X X X X C		
one chemical bridge	two chemical bridges	es
>	>	
6 macrocyclic scaffolds	45 macrocyclic scaffol	lds

Figure 9. Comparison of using one vs two linkers in a double-bridged nona-peptide. Light colors serve to more easily identify where the cysteine residue is alternating and offer the advantage of adding this aminoacid to form two chemical bridges.

SECTION VI

6. Protein scaffolds

The term protein scaffold can comprise multiple proteomic structures that have been used in combination with PhD technology, including the well-known Igs that have proven very useful for biotechnological applications. Protein scaffolds must retain a fixed folded structure to serve as a framework in which peptides (or other molecules) can be displayed; this implies that a specific motif in the scaffolds has to allow an affinity function, preferably on an exposed surface. The present section will address non-Ig proteins which have been used as scaffolds for Ph.D. applications.

Although immunoglobulin (Ig) molecules have the great advantage of covering a significant part of the spectrum of recognition to the most sought-after targets, its development is accompanied by high costs. This is due to the problematic modifications such as glycosylation, bridging through disulfide bonds implied in the manufacturing. The relatively bigger size of Ig proteins is prone to elicit undesired immunogenic responses and a decline in cell permeability (A. M. Wu & Senter, 2005). Protein scaffolds have been raised as a promising alternative approach that can potentially improve *in vivo* stability of displayed elements. But the challenge of reaching the combinatorial diversity of Ig molecules is patent.

6.1. Properties of protein scaffolds

A stable 3D structure and a clear function are inherent properties of proteins. This stability, often reinforced by steady disulfide bonds, makes the protein resistant to protease degradation. There have to be specific protein segments susceptible of modification, and the introduction of variation is expected not to alter the overall structure and folding of the scaffold, which will, as a consequence, affect its stability. If the scaffold is derived from a natural source such as animal, plant, bacteria, etc., the original function of the protein scaffold is often lost or does not bind to the original ligands (Hosse, 2006). But it is a valid

approach as long as the scaffold's configuration is maintained despite being recombined with phage capsid proteins and at the same time can proficiently display peptides.

The insertion of mutations in the scaffold, which make possible the elaboration of a library, can be achieved through distinct methodologies. One or more loops can be randomized to increase the surface of binding, a tethered motif variation instead of thorough variation, point-specific mutations that ensure an adequate binding (Hosse, 2006). The number of mutations inserted in the scaffold and the insertion site is restricted by its structural stability, prone to misfolding.

6.2. Advantages of using protein scaffolds

Among the enhanced aspects of the pharmacokinetic profile, using a protein as a scaffold for Ph.D. offers, the most notable is the *in-vivo* stability. This stability translates into an efficient selection of 'hits' with good affinity and selectivity inside an environment that resembles natural conditions that facilitate safety, toxicity, and efficacy assessment. The improved kinetic profile and an adequate size of the protein scaffold exhibit targeted bioaccumulation (Schmidt & Wittrup, 2009).

Using protein scaffolds for Ph.D. has also proved useful when combined with molecular imaging technologies. Recent development in molecular imaging methods focalized in tumor metabolism such as single-photon emission tomography (SPECT) and positron emission tomography (PET) has been used in combination with traditional anatomical imaging methods systems such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or computed tomography (CT). It positively impacts the decision-making process, resulting in an improved preclinical and clinical evaluation of the novel compound, enabling better monitoring, detection times, and improved therapies. (Willmann et al., 2008).

6.3. Classification of protein scaffolds

Although more than one taxonomy has been proposed for classifying protein scaffolds (Hosse, 2006; Simeon & Chen, 2018; Zoller et al., 2011), the present work will abide by characterization made more recently by Simeon and Chen. They proposed that depending on the location of the region where the variability will be inserted and the ligand will attach; there are two categories: (i) scaffolds where variated residues are placed in flexible loops and (ii) scaffolds where residues are located in secondary structures (α -helices and β -sheets).



Figure 10. A representative set of non-Ig protein scaffolds. Highlighted in blue are the scaffolds described here belonging to category (i) and in red the ones belonging to category (ii). Variable regions that serve for antigen recognition are depicted in red and framework AAs in gray. Modified from (Simeon & Chen, 2018)

6.3.1. Category one: Ligand-binding residues in exposed loops

6.3.1.1. Anticalins

Product of an engineering and design process, this group of proteins is derived from a natural family of lipocalins proteins. Lipocalins present in eukaryotic and prokaryotic organisms (Goetz et al., 2000) have a role in transporting hydrophobic molecules and storing biological compounds. In humans, it takes part during normal physiological processes such as retinoid-binding (Lepperdinger et al., 1997) and some maladies that include cancer. There are at least 37 identified lipocalins in humans (Du et al., 2015). The engineered version, anticalins, is intended to contribute to the making of alternatives to Ab proteins for medical and biotechnological applications.

Anticalins are smaller (~20 kDa) than monoclonal antibodies and are devoid of disulfide bridges or glycosylation (Simeon & Chen, 2018). Although the structure is less sophisticated than antibodies, the functionality can be comparable when binding antigens, deficient molecular weight or hapten-like ones (Hosse, 2006). The structure facilitates the synthesis and favors the combination of other proteins to increase the field of anticalins applications further. In combination, size and structure allow anticalins to have better tissue penetration and suitability for bacterial production e.g. *E. coli.* (Skerra, 2008). Therefore, it has also been used in combination with Ph.D. Before entering into the detail of how this is carried out, a specific description of anticalins' structure will be provided.

6.3.1.1.1. Structure

Anticalins deviate structurally from their parent protein lipocalins only in four specific loops close to the ligand-binding site (Skerra, 2008). Eight β -strands organized in antiparallel arrangement combine and a β barrel-like conformation emerges. The four loops afore mentioned are hypervariable in anticalins and constitute the access to the ligand-binding site positioned close to the protein's surface (Hosse, 2006). Each extruding loop can tolerate a variability of 16 to 24 residues, and in total, the biomolecule consists of 160 to 180 residues (Gebauer & Skerra, 2012). In the context of Ph.D. library creation, the number and location of residues selected for randomization vary depending on the target molecule's nature. If the target is a protein, all the variability tolerated will be utilized in each loop; but if the target is a small molecule, only randomization, in particular, AAs near the ligand-binding site cavity, will be enough (Hosse, 2006).

6.3.1.1.2. Example

A natural protein that takes up an essential quota of the total proteins present in human tears belongs to the lipocalin family. The wild type version of human tear lipocalin (Tlc) is brutal to play a role in tear viscosity and acts as an antiviral and anti-inflammatory agent (Dartt, 2011). This polyfunctionality is probably attributable to the fact that Tlc poses broader access to the ligand-binding sites than other characterized lipocalins (Breustedt et al., 2005). A group of researchers reengineered Tlc to obtain an anticalin that selectively targeted vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) (Gille et al., 2016).

The VEGF family of proteins regulates angiogenesis, a central process that touches virtually every stage during cancer. The VEGF-A member of the family is considered one of the most binding ligands in solid tumor angiogenesis (Innocenti et al., 2018). Although monoclonal Ab such as bevacizumab has already been developed and FDA approved to neutralize VEGF-A, there is evidence of severe side effects such as intestine perforation and platelet aggregation leading to thrombotic complications (Meyer et al., 2009; Shojaei & Ferrara, 2007). For this reason, anticalins' structure and immunogenic profile stand as a good alternative.

The anticalin library was created by selectively mutating 18 residues located in the four loops constituting the ligand-binding site entrance. Additionally, four N-terminal, two C-terminal residues were eliminated, and both cysteines involved in a disulfide bridge were exchanged (Breustedt et al., 2005). One PCR fragment was used to encode the first pair of loops along with the variable codons. For the second pair of loops, a second PCR fragment was used in an analog manner. Four rounds of selection against a synthetic fragment of VEGF-A as the target produced an initial set of 'hits' that were recovered using streptavidin paramagnetic beads and a series of washings steps. Using high-throughput (HT) ELISA and other techniques, one ligand, named PRS-050, was selected that showed affinity to all the splice forms of VEGF-A used in the experiment. Maturation step procedures raised the affinity from KD = 400 nM to 25 pM (Gille et al., 2016).

In subsequent experimentation *in-vivo* with local and systemic administration confirmed the capacity of PRS-050 to neutralize VEGF-A. Moreover, to improve the anticalin's biological capabilities, it was PEGylated (Roberts et al., 2012) by inserting one cysteine residue in the surface of the lipocalin. This procedure resulted in an extension of the plasma half-life from < 1 hour to about 28 hours (Gille et al., 2016). The first application of PRS-050 is in cancer. Using mice for a 20-day treatment, it was shown how tumor growth curves corroborate the action of the anticalin. A second application tested was for inhibiting the breakdown of the retinal-blood barrier in rabbit eyes. The low molecular weight and high specificity favor delivering a higher stoichiometric prescription and is, therefore, a good candidate for treating age-related macular degeneration (AMD).

6.3.1.2. Knottins

It is also called inhibitor cystine knot; it belongs to a group of proteins denominated disulfide-rich proteins (DRP). According to the structure exhibited, they constitute a family of natural proteins that have been adapted to be used in combination with various screening technologies such as yeast, bacterial, and Ph.D. (Barkan et al., 2016; Getz et al., 2011). It is naturally found in animals, plants, and fungus playing defense mechanisms roles as protease inhibitors, toxins, and antimicrobial agents. (Zhu et al., 2003).

6.3.1.2.1. Structure

As the name suggests, these proteins possess a motif that resembles a 'knot' in the core that results from the bridging of six cysteine residues that form the distinctive three disulfide bridges, which is the minimum number of required bridges to be called knottins. The interweaving is formed by a coil formed in the two disulfide bridges and the protein backbone (green in figure 11); the remaining disulfide bridge (blue in figure 11) engages in this coil, and the knot is formed (Figure 11). Therefore, the beta-strands are provided with excellent stability that confers the entire molecule of resistance to adverse basic/acidic, thermal, or mechanical conditions (Daly & Craik, 2011; Postic et al., 2018).



Figure 11. The detailed structure of knottins showing specifically wich aminoacid positions are used to form the interweaving

Knottins, which are approximately 30 residues long (Simeon & Chen, 2018), has been exploited for biomedical purposes, e.g., as drug design and imaging in medicine. The plethora of functions this protein has been given, such as neurotransmitters, anti-erectile dysfunction, analgesics etc. (Postic et al., 2018) has motivated the creation of a database created in 2004 and upgraded in 2017 (https://www.dsimb.inserm.fr/KNOTTIN/index.php). One outstanding example of these molecules is the FDA-approved drug linaclotide which disulfide bridges are ligated as follows: C1–C6, C2–C10, and C5–C13. This 14-residues drug is orally available and is used to treat chronic constipation and irritable bowel syndrome (Zorzi, Deyle, et al., 2017).

6.3.1.2.2. Example

Fibronectin 1 is an extracellular matrix protein present in healthy as well as in tumorous tissue. One isoform of fibronectin, called extra domain B fibronectin (EDB-FN), is an oncogenic protein unusually present in non-cancerous tissue (Han & Lu, 2017), a characteristic that makes it attractive for targeted applications in cancer treatment and imaging. This isoform contains the domain EDB linked to many indicators of tumor aggressiveness such as metastasis, proliferation, epithelial-mesenchymal transition (Han et al., 2018; Petrini et al., 2017). EDB is powerfully expressed in a type of breast cancer but

is also present in lung, brain, colorectal, ovarian, and thyroid cancers (Vaidya et al., 2019). Being a very well conserved sequence among species, the 91 AA EDB qualifies as a tumor marker (Lui et al., 2020). Therefore, Ph.D. technology can be used to obtain high-affinity ligands to EDB.

The knottin libraries created in this very recent investigation (Lui et al., 2020) were synthesized from an open-chain variant of *Momordica cochinchinensis* trypsin inhibitor II (MCoTI-II), which in turn was isolated from the fruit Gac. Two Ph.D. libraries that used the same M13 bacteriophage were made. The first, called MCopt 1.0 employed the major coat protein (pVIII) for display, and the varying portions were located in three regions. Two of these regions were allocated in two loops out of five the knottin presented. A third varying region was located next to the N- termini of the knottin. The second Ph.D. library called MCopt 2.0 used the minor coat protein (pIII) for display and had a single portion of the variable region located in the first loop.

The ligands were obtained after three screening processes, and 46 of these were selected for sequencing. Three clones from the library MCopt 1.0 (MC-FN-010, MC-FN-020 and MC-FN-030) and three of the MCopt 2.0 (MC-FN-040, MC-FN-050, and MC-FN-060) were further analyzed. One particularity was that except MC-FN-020 all the rest exhibited a motif R-I/V-R-(L) that alanine substitution lowered the affinity and proved the importance of this motif for binding. SPR technology showed that MC-FN-010 alone displayed binding activity while lacking any tags, which confirmed its potential as an imaging tool. Alanine scanning also revealed that a derivative of the SPR selected ligand, MC-FN-016, had a specific residue substitution that had performed better for selective linkage to primary amines, a desirable property for imaging agents.

When both MC-FN-010 and MC-FN-016 were trimerized through oligomerization for *in-vivo* testing, the affinity improved from the nano to the pico-molar range without affecting other binding properties. This was confirmed through immunofluorescence staining of tumor and standard brain tissue sections. The improvement was 1500x to 3600x times

stronger and was comparable to the binding of an Ab fragment previously developed (Pini et al., 1998). The fine biodistribution in the liver and kidneys using the xenograft mouse model was also promising. Taken together, these results show promise for further development of knottins-based ligands for imaging or drug delivery.

6.3.2. Category two: Ligand-binding residues in secondary structures

6.3.2.1. Affibodies

This engineered molecular scaffold is derived from one of the five domains of protein A. Each domain is a three α -helical structure which contains 57-60 AA. Protein A resides in the Staphylococcus aureus membrane and anchors the Fc portion of Ig G (Alonso & Daggett, 2000). Domain B was distinguished from the rest for being thermodynamically stable and due to its remarkable folding reaction time (Myers & Oas, 2001) and was selected to undergo chemical modifications that resulted in a protein named Z-domain. This protein maintained an affinity for the Fc fragment of IgG and has been used in therapeutic endeavors to block PPI and strategies for payloads and increased selectivity (Löfblom et al., 2010). Table 1 shows several affibody molecules that have reached picomolar affinities to different targets; some entered clinical trials.

6.3.2.1.1. Structure

Construction of affibodies-based libraries that use Z-domain as scaffold make use of 13 residues open to variation out of 58 that constitute the protein fragment. It is spread in two of the three α -helices (Hosse, 2006; Löfblom et al., 2010). The absence of disulfide bonds and relatively small size (6.5 kDa) are favorable properties of these libraries. They have been successfully used to isolate ligands with remarkable affinities (μ M to ρ M) in areas such as imaging, therapy, and biotechnological development. Some examples of targets are tumor necrosis factor- α , interleukin-8, envelope glycoprotein gp120, Cluster of Differentiation 28 (CD28), human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) (Nygren, 2008).

Target	Target size (kDa)	Highest affinity (pM)	Reference
Epidermal growth factor	69 (ECD)	160	(Andersson et al., 2016) www.clinicaltrials.gov/NCT02901925
Human Epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2)	70 (ECD)	22	(Sörensen et al., 2016) www.clinicaltrials.gov/NCT01858116
HER3	69 (ECD)	21	(Malm et al., 2013)
Interleukin-17 (IL-17)	30 (dimer)	0.3	www.clinicaltrials.gov/NCT02690142
Staphylococcal protein A Domain	7	16	(Lindborg et al., 2013)
Tumor necrosis factor-a (TNF-a)	54 (trimer)	95	(Löfdahl & Nygren, 2010)

Table 1. Examples in the literature of affibody pico-molar affinity ligands.(ECD): extra cellular domain Selected from (Ståhl et al., 2017)

6.3.2.1.2. Example

The application of affibodies for imaging is exemplified by developing a radioiodinated Ph.D. selected affibody to achieve high contrast imaging in overexpressed HER2 tissues (Orlova et al., 2006). HER2 is a transmembrane protein, and its dimerization with related protein receptor family leads to cell multiplication, migration, and invasion of other tissues (Hayes, 2019). It is present in around 15% of breast cancers (Sapino et al., 2013). Thus, it's a potential marker for cancer imaging applications that can make possible more individualized treatment options for the most commonly diagnosed cancer in women worldwide (Sung et al., 2021). For imaging application, the agent's high affinity and specificity make possible only diseased structures to detain the agent (in this case, an affibody), whereas normal tissue does not. This resulted in high contrast images and reduced injection-examination time (Orlova et al., 2006).

The team aim was to perform affinity maturation of a previously identified affibody called $Z_{\text{HER2:4}}$, which showed 50nM affinity (Wikman et al., 2004). A secondary phage library was constructed using two of the three α -helices of the Z domain. A 129 nucleotide template was employed to encode the motif open to variation and the invariant residues of the two α -helices. In total, six residues at selected locations were open to randomization. The remaining invariable α -helix was encoded by a phagemid vector (pAffi1) and ligated to the oligonucleotide. For the selection procedure, the M13K07 from NEB was used. The target was determined to be a 624 AA portion of the extracellular domain of HER2.

After five rounds of selection with biotinylated HER2, 160 clones were chosen arbitrarily. The criteria for scaling down this number were based on two techniques. First, they subjected the clones to an ELISA test, and the majority showed higher absorbance values than the reference $Z_{\text{HER2:4}}$. And second, a clustering method that is based on an average-link hierarchical procedure. As a result, 10 clones were selected. Parameters such as solubility, melting temperature, along *in-vivo* assays facilitated the further reduction of candidates up to 2 ligands ($Z_{\text{HER2:342}}$ and $Z_{\text{HER2:477}}$). Finally, it was found through a kinetic investigation that although both affibodies present affinities in the range of the picomolar, for $Z_{\text{HER2:342}}$ the dissociation equilibrium constant K_D value was proximate to 22 pM and better than the 32 pM of $Z_{\text{HER2:477}}$.

The selected affibody showed similar fluorescent properties for imaging than the commercially available monoclonal Ab trastuzumab. Then, to radiolabel the affibody, ¹²⁵I was used. The team tested through Biacore technology that the binding properties were intact. Therefore $Z_{HER2:342}$ is an excellent candidate for radionuclide in-vivo imaging (Orlova et al., 2006).

Affibodies have not only found application in imaging but also as therapeutics with the purpose of discover alternatives to existing monoclonal antibodies to treat inflammatory condition but require high delivery doses and even intravenous delivery wich impacts negatively patient compliance. An affibody based therapy, taking advantage of its small size, can increase by ten fold the dose in the same volume compared to a monoclonal based therapy (Frejd & Kim, 2017). An example is the development of a complement 5 (C5) protein inhibitor. The complement system belongs to the innate immune system. Ph.D. was used to identify hits in the nanomolar range. This affibody molecules were futher modified to match the charactersitics of specific diseases. One pegylated affibody molecule fused to albumin binding domain (ABD) was used to target the eye and reached clinical trials but was discontinued (Berglund & Stromberg, 2016). This evidenced the ongoing research efforts that are in course to find more ways affibodies can be used as targeted therapy.

6.3.2.2. Darpins

Again, nature provides a model to create new approaches for library construction. Some families of proteins naturally assemble by joining repeats of certain sections of AAs. Ankyrin repeat domains are a family of proteins belonging to this class and is among the most abundant (Simeon & Chen, 2018). They are present in various organisms other than humans and are involved in different intracellular processes, including tumor suppression (Mosavi et al., 2004). Inside the cell, it has been found in the cytosol and also in the nucleus suggesting a functional versatility to switch surroundings. This is partly because it lacks disulfide bonds that allow it to preserve the conformation in the cytoplasm's reducing environment. At the same time, is compatible with high throughput amplification in *E. coli*. for the creation of libraries using Ph.D (Hosse, 2006).

6.3.2.2.1. Structure

Ankyrin repeat domains possess a tandem-like structure in which each repeat unit has 33 residues consisting of a pair of antiparallel α -helices linked by a β -turn and, lastly, a coil that serves as linkage to the neighboring repeats or the N/C-termini of the protein. To translate these existing properties into the creation of a library, an engineering process through consensus design led to creating a library that allows the randomization of 6 of the 33 total residues in each consensus repeat (Forrer et al., 2004; Killias, 2010). Up to four repeats have been reported, excluding the N and C termini repeats (Binz et al., 2003). This modular conformation (Figure 12) of the engineered scaffold is termed Designed Ankyrin Repeat Domains (DARPins) and offers exciting characteristics to Ph.D. based libraries. Some improvements of DARPins scaffolds consisted of redesigning one of the capping repeats to confer the entire molecule more stability (Kramer et al., 2010).



Figure 12. Representation of DARPin library structure. The N-terminal capping is shown in green. In light blue the C-terminal. In blue internal repeats along with randomized AA in red. Taken from (Killias, 2010)

DARPins application has been manifested in cancer research and therapy. Its relatively small size, great binding affinity and specificity, flexibility to introduce peptide configuration distributed along with the repeat units are characteristics that make DARPins suitable for targeted therapies, especially for cancer. Some examples of Ph.D. selected ligands are the Fc domain of human IgG, ErbB2 (HER2), ErbB1 (EGFR), ErbB4 (HER4), and TNFα (Killias, 2010; Steiner et al., 2008).

6.3.2.2.2. Example

Although in the following example, ribosome display was also involved during the research, the selected ligand came from Ph.D. technology. It is worth mentioning how these two technologies complement each other at specific points during the research process. The investigation had two purposes: first, engineer a DARPin molecule with the capacity to bind to the epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM); and second, to use the selected

ligand to transport and deliver the toxin pseudomonas exotoxin A (ETA) to tumor specific sites (Stefan et al., 2011).

EpCAM is a type-1 glycoprotein found in approximately 39-42 kDa (Stefan et al., 2011). If higher than average expression levels are found, it is associated with adenocarcinomas and squamous cell carcinomas (Went et al., 2004). Therefore, it is considered a tumor-associated antigen with low occurrence in healthy tissue and a cancer stem cell marker (Aiman Mohtar et al., 2020; Killias, 2010). ETA is one common polypeptide used for directed cell intoxication and is classically conjugated to engineered antibodies in order to create immunotoxins. The second generation of immunotoxins makes use of smaller scaffolds such as DARPins.

To obtain well suited DARPins candidates that target EpCAM, two technologies were used. Ribosome display had already been successfully used to isolate 'hits' for cancer ligands (Amstutz et al., 2006; Zahnd et al., 2006), but being a technology that can only be carried out *in-vitro*, it must be provided of conditions such as buffered non-denaturing environment, low temperature and assure the nonexistence of any RNases (Killias, 2010). On the contrary, the conventional procedure of filamentous Ph.D. relies on transforming *E. coli.* for the library construction. This *in-vivo* step limits the library size and restricts protein display only to those with favorable translocation to the periplasm and folding speed. Moreover, the functional size of the library is even smaller, that is, the fraction of the whole library that is viable for display due to its correct folding, size, and stability while conjugated to the bacteriophage and in the bacteria medium (Steiner et al., 2008).

A clever, efficient, and straightforward solution to the problem of premature cytoplasmic folding implemented in Ph.D. was to switch from the post-translational Sec protein-translocation pathway to the signal recognition particle (SRP) translocation pathway. This change counteracts insufficient translocation into the bacteria periplasm, and the protein display levels increase evidently (Steiner et al., 2006). Ph.D. technology proved one more time its versatility to adapt, in this case, to DARPins scaffolds.

The DARPin Ph.D. library had the conformation N3C; that is, besides the N and C capping repeats, 3 more repeats were inserted in a tandem conformation. These DARPin composed of 5 repeats in total was amplified by PCR and subsequently cloned in pQE30-derived vectors provided by Qiagen. The biotinylated extracellular domain of human EpCAM was immobilized to serve as a target. Three rounds of selection showed apparent augmentation of ligands showing specificity toward EpCAM. After sequencing 20 clones, EPh1 clone showed dominance and presented the particularity of having two residues deleting the intersection between the N-terminal repeat and the first repeat. The restoration of these two residues reduced the affinity for EpCAM, which showed the importance of these two AAs' absence (Stefan et al., 2011).

Ribosome display ligands were obtained using N2C and N3C libraries conformation. The seven clones selected differed in the randomized positions from those of EPh1 clone. The affinity maturation process involved using error-prone PCR of clones selected by both technologies and ribosome display select new ones. Further adjustments such as reengineering of the C-termini capping repeat of the DARPin binders (Interlandi et al., 2008), competition ELISAs, analytical size-exclusion chromatography, and flow cytometry analysis were made to obtain five binders derived from EPh1 and two from the ribosome display selected ligands. Among the five was Ec4, which showed picomolar range affinity to EpCAM (Kd=917.2 \pm 77.8 pM) and, even better, was internalized once bound to EpCAM (Stefan et al., 2011). After fusing ETA to Ec4 it showed a similar affinity to free Ec4 and proved to be cytotoxic to various tumorous cell types (Martin-Killias et al., 2011).

As a summary of the 2 categories of scaffolds, Table 2 show details.

Table 2. Summary of scaffolds

	Scaffold	Residu	MW		Parental
	name	es	(kDa)	Structure	protein
				B-sheet and α -helical	
Cat.	Anticalins	160-180	~20	terminals	Lipocalin
1				B-sheet and disulfide	
	Knottins	~30	<4	bridges	Peptides
Cat	Affibodies	58	~6	α-helical	Protein A
Cat. 2		67+(n*			Ankyrin
2	DARPins	33)	14-20	α -helical and B-turns	repeats

6.4. Provider companies

Commercially available libraries of the linear, cyclic, bicyclic peptide and protein scaffolds are offered by some companies such as Creative Biolabs, New England Biolabs (NEB) Pepscan, among others. For linear peptide libraries, NEB offers the M13KE cloning vector to build customized libraries and provides premade linear libraries. The NEB instruction manual specified that they offer one library made up of 7 residues (heptapeptide) and another library made of 12 (dodecapeptide). The projected diversity for both libraries is in the order of 10^9 independent peptides. This means that not all possible peptide arrangements will be achieved (GmbH, 2009; NEB, n.d.). In the case of Creative Biolabs, on the institution website, they advertise three premade linear peptide libraries are designed for an *ex-vivo* selection and do not encode Cys codons that can contribute to the formation of unwanted constraints in the peptide displayed, causing unpredictability while screening the library. Detailed information and characteristics of the libraries can be found on the institution's website (Creative_Biolabs, n.d.).

Regarding protein scaffolds, Creative Biolabs contains a complete set of scaffolds that are compatible not only to Ph.D. but to the ribosome, mRNA, and cell surface display and can be revised on its website (*Engineered Protein Scaffold Library Construction Service* -

Creative Biolabs, n.d.). For anticalin libraries, the German pharmaceutical company Pieris offers libraries with a diversity of up to 1×10^{11} (*Libraries :: Pieris Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (PIRS)*, n.d.).

SECTION VII

7. Applicability in the Ecuadorian context

CPs have an exciting potential to develop antivirals. To target dengue virus (DENV) proteases, some approaches that do not involve Ph.D. have been tried, such as using CPs through molecular docking techniques to find inhibitors (Tambunan & Alamudi, 2010). In another approach, a team used conotoxins as a library and was able to identify inhibitors against NS2B-NS3 protease (Xu et al., 2012). These efforts have focused mainly on targeting nonstructural proteases NS2B and NS3.

In the Ecuadorian context, in 2019 and 2020, the country experienced a large dengue outbreak of 8416 cases (Navarro et al., 2020) that accompanied the COVID-19 pandemic, outclassing the capabilities ever further of the health care system. Another latent danger comes from the Zika virus (ZIKV). In 2016, after the earthquake in the coastal region, an outbreak of ZIKV proved to be a national threat (Fors et al., 2018; Pacheco Barzallo et al., 2018). Interestingly, ZIKV shares several commonalities with DENV.

DENV and ZIKV belong to the family *flaviviridae*, genus Flaviviruses. Both have singlestranded positive-sense RNA (ssRNA). It's generally accepted that DENV has 4 different serotypes, known as DEN-1, DEN-2, DEN-3, and DEN-4, although there is evidence pointing to a fifth serotype DEN-5.(Mustafa et al., 2015) ZIKV also has one serotype that has been classified into African, Asian, and American lineages due to genetic variation.(Gutiérrez-Bugallo et al., 2019). The four serotypes of DENV share an average of 73.4% of genetic material, and ZIKV lineages are 99.2% identical.(Elong Ngono & Shresta, 2018). DENV and ZIKV are arboviruses meaning the transmission is performed by blood-feeding arthropods. These vectors belong to the genus Aedes: Ae. aegypti and Ae. Albopictus. DENV uses both vectors. ZIKV is transmitted to humans mainly by Ae. aegypti (Shragai et al., 2017).

7.1.Virology of DENV and ZIKV

Considering the mechanism at the molecular level of interaction between virusvector and virus-humans, we can find some similarities. It is known that a virus is composed of many types of proteins that mediate its attachments to host cells and replication. There are structural, non-structural, regulatory, and accessory proteins. The virology and cellular tropism of DENV and ZIKV, which belong to the same family (*flaviviridae*), are very similar and share some infection mechanisms.

Flaviviruses possess a relatively tiny genome of around 10.7 Kilobases. This translates into an initial single polyprotein that contains the structural and non-structural proteins. This polyprotein is cleaved by host and viral proteases (Elong Ngono & Shresta, 2018). The precursor molecule is broken apart by the protease NS2B–NS3 (NS2B–NS3pro) into three structural proteins and seven nonstructural ones that include the proteases NS1(A. Sharma & Gupta, 2017). In the case of DENV, the NS2B–NS3pro, which are very important for viral replication, has focused on developing antiviral drugs (H. Wu et al., 2015).

7.2. Phage Display libraries contribution

Recently a group of researchers decided to switch the focus from NS2B–NS3pro to the nonstructural protein NS1 which was essential for virus survival (Songprakhon et al., 2020). They used a twelve amino acid length (12mer) Ph.D. library obtained from NEB. Using the pIII display system of M13 phage, they selected ligands that attach to NS1 of DENV-2. An initial set of 11 'hits' was scaled down to 4, and its interaction was analyzed through SPR. They found that these 4 ligands showed inhibition not only with DENV-2 but also with DENV-1 and DENV-4 but not DENV-3.

This result highlights the importance and need of further development of Ph.D. technologies. There is no literature available on the use of libraries of Ph.D. that use scaffolds proteins or CP so far. By combining these technologies, it has been shown here

that exciting and surprising results can be obtained that offer a contribution to present challenges that DENV and ZIKV presents.

SECTION VIII

8. Conclusions and Recommendations

This thesis work has reviewed different examples that show the vast contribution of Ph.D. through constrained peptides to academia, the pharmaceutical industry, and medicine. Therefore it can be concluded that:

- The superiority of a constrained setting for a peptide over linear counterparts has positive implications in binding to its intended target due to a thermodynamically favorable profile that results from a reduction in entropy.
- Disulfide bridged peptidic structures exist in nature, and technologies like SPS have facilitated its creation. Monocyclic peptides offer improved stability over linear ones. Bicyclic peptides increase even further stability and provide a steadier contact interface with the target. The production of bicyclic peptides using chemical linkers and disulfide bridges has facilitated the creation of Ph.D. libraries to treat hereditary angioedema and cancer, among others.
- Protein scaffolds combined with Ph.D. make peptide interaction even more practical because of size, structure, affinity, and natural origin. This also has favorable implications regarding immunogenicity. Although the family of protein scaffolds comprises more examples than the ones reviewed here, they have offered insight into the working mechanisms and hopefully reassure the necessity of maintaining the endeavors to research new ways to target a determined biological interaction. Protein scaffolds show good potential to give birth to first-in-class drugs.
- Ab engineering has shown precise results, as in the case of monoclonal antibodies, some have been FDA approved, but Ab technology is not without challenges mentioned in this work. Protein scaffolds still have improvements to

match the properties of antibodies, but the goal may not replace Abs but find ingenious solutions where Ig technology does not reach the desired outcomes. Or to find a low-cost alternative solution to make it accessible to a broader population. Protein scaffolds have improvements in fronts like serum half-life and tissue penetration.

• In the Ecuadorian context, Ph.D. libraries can be used to find antivirals that target proteases or non-structural proteins of DENV and ZIKV. Both of these have tested the local healthcare system's capacities due to natural disasters or the COVID-19 pandemic. There is no literature available on the use of libraries of Ph.D. that use scaffolds proteins. By combining these technologies, it has been shown here that exciting and surprising results can be obtained that offer a contribution to present challenges that DENV and ZIKV presents.

9. References

- Aghebati-Maleki, L., Bakhshinejad, B., Baradaran, B., Motallebnezhad, M., Aghebati-Maleki, A., Nickho, H., Yousefi, M., & Majidi, J. (2016). Phage display as a promising approach for vaccine development. In *Journal of Biomedical Science* (Vol. 23, Issue 1, pp. 1–18). BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-016-0285-9
- Aiman Mohtar, M., Syafruddin, S. E., Nasir, S. N., & Yew, L. T. (2020). Revisiting the roles of pro-metastatic epcam in cancer. In *Biomolecules* (Vol. 10, Issue 2). MDPI AG. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10020255
- Akbulut, B. S., & Olmez, E. O. (2016). Protein-Peptide Interactions Revolutionize Drug Development. *Intech, tourism*, 13. https://www.intechopen.com/books/advancedbiometric-technologies/liveness-detection-in-biometrics
- Almagro, J. C., Pedraza-Escalona, M., Arrieta, H. I., & Pérez-Tapia, S. M. (2019). Phage Display Libraries for Antibody Therapeutic Discovery and Development. *Antibodies*, 8(3), 44. https://doi.org/10.3390/antib8030044
- Alonso, D. O. V., & Daggett, V. (2000). Staphylococcal protein A: Unfolding pathways, unfolded states, and differences between the B and E domains. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(1), 133–138. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.1.133
- Amstutz, P., Koch, H., Binz, H. K., Deuber, S. A., & Plückthun, A. (2006). Rapid selection of specific MAP kinase-binders from designed ankyrin repeat protein libraries. *Protein Engineering, Design and Selection*, 19(5), 219–229. https://doi.org/10.1093/protein/gzl004
- Angelini, A., Cendron, L., Chen, S., Touati, J., Winter, G., Zanotti, G., & Heinis, C. (2012). Bicyclic peptide inhibitor reveals large contact interface with a protease target. ACS Chemical Biology, 7(5), 817–821. https://doi.org/10.1021/cb200478t
- Arap, W., Kolonin, M. G., Trepel, M., Lahdenranta, J., Cardó-Vila, M., Giordano, R. J., Mintz, P. J., Ardelt, P. U., Yao, V. J., Vidal, C. I., Chen, L., Flamm, A., Valtanen, H., Weavind, L. M., Hicks, M. E., Pollock, R. E., Botz, G. H., Bucana, C. D., Koivunen, E., ... Pasqualini, R. (2002). Steps toward mapping the human vasculature by phage display. *Nature Medicine*, 8(2), 121–127. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm0202-121
- Arnison, P. G., Bibb, M. J., Bierbaum, G., Bowers, A. A., Bugni, T. S., Bulaj, G., Camarero, J. A., Campopiano, D. J., Challis, G. L., Clardy, J., Cotter, P. D., Craik, D. J., Dawson, M., Dittmann, E., Donadio, S., Dorrestein, P. C., Entian, K. D., Fischbach, M. A., Garavelli, J. S., ... Van Der Donk, W. A. (2013). Ribosomally synthesized and post-translationally modified peptide natural products: Overview and recommendations for a universal nomenclature. *Natural Product Reports*, 30(1), 108–160. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2np20085f
- Banerji, A., Busse, P., Shennak, M., Lumry, W., Davis-Lorton, M., Wedner, H. J., Jacobs, J., Baker, J., Bernstein, J. A., Lockey, R., Li, H. H., Craig, T., Cicardi, M.,

Riedl, M., Al-Ghazawi, A., Soo, C., Iarrobino, R., Sexton, D. J., TenHoor, C., ... Adelman, B. (2017). Inhibiting Plasma Kallikrein for Hereditary Angioedema Prophylaxis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *376*(8), 717–728. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1605767

- Barkan, D. T., Cheng, X. li, Celino, H., Tran, T. T., Bhandari, A., Craik, C. S., Sali, A., & Smythe, M. L. (2016). Clustering of disulfide-rich peptides provides scaffolds for hit discovery by phage display: Application to interleukin-23. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 17(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-016-1350-9
- Bazan, J., Całkosiński, I., & Gamian, A. (2012). Phage display A powerful technique for immunotherapy. December, 1817–1828.
- Berglund, M. M., & Stromberg, P. (2016). The clinical potential of Affibody-based inhibitors of C5 for therapeutic complement disruption. *Expert Review of Proteomics*, *13*(3), 241–243. https://doi.org/10.1586/14789450.2016.1148604
- Bhardwaj, G., Mulligan, V. K., Bahl, C. D., Gilmore, J. M., Harvey, P. J., Cheneval, O., Buchko, G. W., Pulavarti, S. V. S. R. K., Kaas, Q., Eletsky, A., Huang, P. S., Johnsen, W. A., Greisen, P. J., Rocklin, G. J., Song, Y., Linsky, T. W., Watkins, A., Rettie, S. A., Xu, X., ... Baker, D. (2016). Accurate de novo design of hyperstable constrained peptides. *Nature*, 538(7625), 329–335. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature19791
- Binz, H. K., Stumpp, M. T., Forrer, P., Amstutz, P., & Plückthun, A. (2003). Designing repeat proteins: Well-expressed, soluble and stable proteins from combinatorial libraries of consensus ankyrin repeat proteins. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 332(2), 489–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2836(03)00896-9
- Bock, J. E., Gavenonis, J., & Kritzer, J. A. (2013). Getting in shape: Controlling peptide bioactivity and bioavailability using conformational constraints. ACS Chemical Biology, 8(3), 488–499. https://doi.org/10.1021/cb300515u
- Bockus, A. T., McEwen, C. M., & Lokey, R. S. (2013). Form and Function in Cyclic Peptide Natural Products: A Pharmacokinetic Perspective. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*, 13(7), 821–836. https://doi.org/10.2174/1568026611313070005
- Bozovicar, K., & Bratkovi, T. (2020). Evolving a Peptide : Library Platforms and Diversification Strategies. *Sciences, Molecular*.
- Brämswig, K. H., Knittelfelder, R., Gruber, S., Untersmayr, E., Riemer, A. B., Szalai, K., Horvat, R., Kammerer, R., Zimmermann, W., Zielinski, C. C., Scheiner, O., & Jensen-Jarolim, E. (2007). Immunization with mimotopes prevents growth of carcinoembryonic antigen-positive tumors in BALB/c mice. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 13(21), 6501–6508. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0692
- Breustedt, D. A., Korndörfer, I. P., Redl, B., & Skerra, A. (2005). The 1.8-Å crystal structure of human tear lipocalin reveals an extended branched cavity with capacity for multiple ligands. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(1), 484–493. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M410466200
- Browne, S. E. (1999). Neurodegenerative disease. *IDrugs*, 2(1), 4–6.

https://www.genscript.com/neurodegenerative disease peptides.html

- Camacho, C. J., Katsumata, Y., & Ascherman, D. P. (2008). Structural and Thermodynamic Approach to Peptide Immunogenicity. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 4(11), e1000231. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000231
- Canadian Cancer Society. (2018). *Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) Canadian Cancer Society*. Canadian Cancer Society. https://www.cancer.ca/en/cancerinformation/diagnosis-and-treatment/tests-and-procedures/carcinoembryonicantigen-cea/?region=on
- Chen, S., Rentero Rebollo, I., Buth, S. A., Morales-Sanfrutos, J., Touati, J., Leiman, P. G., & Heinis, C. (2013). Bicyclic peptide ligands pulled out of cysteine-rich peptide libraries. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 135(17), 6562–6569. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja400461h
- Cotten, S. W., Zou, J., Valencia, C., & Liu, R. (2011). Selection of proteins with desired properties from natural proteome libraries using mrna display. *Nature Protocols*, 6(8), 1163–1182. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2011.354
- Creative_Biolabs. (n.d.). *Ex vivo Phage Display Screening Services Creative Biolabs*. Retrieved February 18, 2021, from https://www.creative-biolabs.com/Ex-vivo-Phage-Display-Services.htm
- Dafale, N. A., Hathi, Z. J., Bit, S., & Purohit, H. J. (2016). Bacteriophage diversity in different habitats and their role in pathogen control. In *Microbial Factories: Biodiversity, Biopolymers, Bioactive Molecules: Volume 2* (pp. 259–280). Springer India. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-2595-9 17
- Daly, N. L., & Craik, D. J. (2011). Bioactive cystine knot proteins. In *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology* (Vol. 15, Issue 3, pp. 362–368). Elsevier Current Trends. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2011.02.008
- Dartt, D. A. (2011). Tear lipocalin: Structure and function. In *Ocular Surface* (Vol. 9, Issue 3, pp. 126–138). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1542-0124(11)70022-2
- Deyle, K., Kong, X. D., & Heinis, C. (2017). Phage Selection of Cyclic Peptides for Application in Research and Drug Development. Accounts of Chemical Research, 50(8), 1866–1874. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.7b00184
- Díaz-Eufracio, B. I., Palomino-Hernández, O., Houghten, R. A., & Medina-Franco, J. L. (2018). Exploring the chemical space of peptides for drug discovery: a focus on linear and cyclic penta-peptides. *Molecular Diversity*, 22(2), 259–267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11030-018-9812-9
- Donaldson, R., Sun, Y., Liang, D. Y., Zheng, M., Sahbaie, P., Dill, D. L., Peltz, G., Buck, K. J., & Clark, J. D. (2016). The multiple PDZ domain protein Mpdz/MUPP1 regulates opioid tolerance and opioid-induced hyperalgesia. *BMC Genomics*, 17(1), 313. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-016-2634-1
- Du Vigneaud, V., Ressler, C., Swan, J. M., Roberts, C. W., Katsoyannis, P. G., & Gordon, S. (1953). The Synthesis of an Octapeptide Amide With The Hormonal Activity of Oxytocin. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 75(19), 4879– 4880. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01115a553

- Du, Z. P., Wu, B. L., Wu, X., Lin, X. H., Qiu, X. Y., Zhan, X. F., Wang, S. H., Shen, J. H., Zheng, C. P., Wu, Z. Y., Xu, L. Y., Wang, D., & Li, E. M. (2015). A systematic analysis of human lipocalin family and its expression in esophageal carcinoma. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), 12010. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep12010
- Duffy, M. (2005). The Urokinase Plasminogen Activator System: Role in Malignancy. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 10(1), 39–49. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612043453559
- Elong Ngono, A., & Shresta, S. (2018). Immune Response to Dengue and Zika. Annual Review of Immunology, 36(1), 279–308. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-042617-053142
- Empting, M. (2017). CHAPTER 1. An Introduction to Cyclic Peptides. 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1039/9781788010153-00001
- Engineered Protein Scaffold Library Construction Service Creative Biolabs. (n.d.). Retrieved April 12, 2021, from https://www.creative-biolabs.com/Engineered-Protein-Scaffold-Library-Construction-Service.html
- Fischer, P. M., Zhelev, N. Z., Wang, S., Melville, J. E., Fåhraeus, R., & Lane, D. P. (2000). Structure-activity relationship of truncated and substituted analogues of the intracellular delivery vector Penetratin. *Journal of Peptide Research*, 55(2), 163– 172. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-3011.2000.00163.x
- Forrer, P., Binz, H. K., Stumpp, M. T., & Plückthun, A. (2004). Consensus design of repeat proteins. *ChemBioChem*, 5(2), 183–189. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.200300762
- Fors, M., Silva, E., & González, P. (2018). Epidemiological characteristics of a Zika outbreak in Portoviejo, Ecuador, 2016. *Revista Panamericana de Salud Publica/Pan American Journal of Public Health*, 42(4), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.26633/rpsp.2018.68
- Frejd, F. Y., & Kim, K. T. (2017). Affibody molecules as engineered protein drugs. *Experimental and Molecular Medicine*, 49(3), e306-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/emm.2017.35
- Gang, D., Kim, D. W., & Park, H. S. (2018). Cyclic peptides: Promising scaffolds for biopharmaceuticals. *Genes*, 9(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/genes9110557
- Gebauer, M., & Skerra, A. (2012). Anticalins: Small engineered binding proteins based on the lipocalin scaffold. In *Methods in Enzymology* (Vol. 503, pp. 157–188). Academic Press Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-396962-0.00007-0
- Getz, J. A., Rice, J. J., & Daugherty, P. S. (2011). Protease-resistant peptide ligands from a knottin scaffold library. *ACS Chemical Biology*, *6*(8), 837–844. https://doi.org/10.1021/cb200039s
- Gille, H., Hülsmeyer, M., Trentmann, S., Matschiner, G., Christian, H. J., Meyer, T., Amirkhosravi, A., Audoly, L. P., Hohlbaum, A. M., & Skerra, A. (2016). Functional characterization of a VEGF-A-targeting Anticalin, prototype of a novel therapeutic human protein class. *Angiogenesis*, 19(1), 79–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10456-015-9490-5

GmbH, N. E. B. (2009). Ph . D . TM Phage Display Libraries. Construction.

- Goetz, D. H., Willie, S. T., Armen, R. S., Bratt, T., Borregaard, N., & Strong, R. K. (2000). Ligand preference inferred from the structure of neutrophil gelatinase associated lipocalin. *Biochemistry*, 39(8), 1935–1941. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi992215v
- Goracci, M., Pignochino, Y., & Marchiò, S. (2020). Phage display-based nanotechnology applications in cancer immunotherapy. *Molecules*, 25(4), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25040843
- Gutiérrez-Bugallo, G., Piedra, L. A., Rodriguez, M., Bisset, J. A., Lourenço-de-Oliveira, R., Weaver, S. C., Vasilakis, N., & Vega-Rúa, A. (2019). Vector-borne transmission and evolution of Zika virus. In *Nature Ecology and Evolution* (Vol. 3, Issue 4, pp. 561–569). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-019-0836-z
- Han, Z., Cheng, H., Parvani, J. G., Zhou, Z., & Lu, Z. R. (2018). Magnetic resonance molecular imaging of metastatic breast cancer by targeting extradomain-B fibronectin in the tumor microenvironment. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 79(6), 3135–3143. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.26976
- Han, Z., & Lu, Z. R. (2017). Targeting fibronectin for cancer imaging and therapy. In *Journal of Materials Chemistry B* (Vol. 5, Issue 4, pp. 639–654). Royal Society of Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6tb02008a
- Hartmann, C., Müller, N., Blaukat, A., Koch, J., Benhar, I., & Wels, W. S. (2010). Peptide mimotopes recognized by antibodies cetuximab and matuzumab induce a functionally equivalent anti-EGFR immune response. *Oncogene*, 29(32), 4517– 4527. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2010.195
- Hayes, D. F. (2019). HER2 and Breast Cancer A Phenomenal Success Story. New England Journal of Medicine, 381(13), 1284–1286. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmcibr1909386
- Hosse, R. J. (2006). A new generation of protein display scaffolds for molecular recognition. *Protein Science*, 15(1), 14–27. https://doi.org/10.1110/ps.051817606
- Huang, H., Damjanovic, J., Miao, J., & Lin, Y.-S. (2021). Cyclic peptides: backbone rigidification and capability of mimicking motifs at protein–protein interfaces. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 8–10. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0cp04633g
- Huang, Y., Wiedmann, M. M., & Suga, H. (2019). RNA Display Methods for the Discovery of Bioactive Macrocycles. *Chemical Reviews*, 119(17), 10360–10391. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00430
- Innocenti, F., Jiang, C., Sibley, A. B., Etheridge, A. S., Hatch, A. J., Denning, S., Niedzwiecki, D., Shterev, I. D., Lin, J., Furukawa, Y., Kubo, M., Kindler, H. L., Auman, J. T., Venook, A. P., Hurwitz, H. I., McLeod, H. L., Ratain, M. J., Gordan, R., Nixon, A. B., & Owzar, K. (2018). Genetic variation determines VEGF-A plasma levels in cancer patients. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-34506-4
- Interlandi, G., Wetzel, S. K., Settanni, G., Plückthun, A., & Caflisch, A. (2008). Characterization and Further Stabilization of Designed Ankyrin Repeat Proteins by

Combining Molecular Dynamics Simulations and Experiments. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 375(3), 837–854. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2007.09.042

- Kale, S. S., Villequey, C., Kong, X. D., Zorzi, A., Deyle, K., & Heinis, C. (2018). Cyclization of peptides with two chemical bridges affords large scaffold diversities. *Nature Chemistry*, 10(7), 715–723. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41557-018-0042-7
- Killias, M. (2010). Designed ankyrin repeat proteins for targeted cancer therapy.
- Kim, S., Kim, D., Jung, H. H., Lee, I. H., Kim, J. Il, Suh, J. Y., & Jon, S. (2012). Bioinspired design and potential biomedical applications of a novel class of highaffinity peptides. *Angewandte Chemie - International Edition*, 51(8), 1890–1894. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201107894
- Konno, S., Misson, L., & Burkart, M. D. (2017). CHAPTER 3. Thioesterase Domainmediated Macrocyclization of Non-ribosomal Peptides (pp. 33–55). https://doi.org/10.1039/9781788010153-00033
- Krag, D. N., Shukla, G. S., Shen, G. P., Pero, S., Ashikaga, T., Fuller, S., Weaver, D. L., Burdette-Radoux, S., & Thomas, C. (2006). Selection of tumor-binding ligands in cancer patients with phage display libraries. *Cancer Research*, 66(15), 7724–7733. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-4441
- Kramer, M. A., Wetzel, S. K., Plückthun, A., Mittl, P. R. E., & Grütter, M. G. (2010). Structural determinants for improved stability of designed ankyrin repeat proteins with a redesigned C-Capping Module. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 404(3), 381– 391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2010.09.023
- Lamboy, J. A., Tam, P. Y., Lee, L. S., Jackson, P. J., Avrantinis, S. K., Lee, H. J., Corn, R. M., & Weiss, G. A. (2008). Chemical and genetic wrappers for improved phage and RNA display. *Chembiochem : A European Journal of Chemical Biology*, 9(17), 2846–2852. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.200800366
- Lee, A. C. L., Harris, J. L., Khanna, K. K., & Hong, J. H. (2019). A comprehensive review on current advances in peptide drug development and design. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(10), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20102383
- Lepperdinger, G., Engel, E., & Richter, K. (1997). A retinoid binding lipocalin, Xlcpl1, relevant for embryonic pattern formation is expressed in the nervous system of Xenopus laevis. *Development Genes and Evolution*, 207(3), 177–185. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004270050105
- Libraries :: Pieris Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (PIRS). (n.d.). Retrieved April 12, 2021, from https://www.pieris.com/anticalin-technology/libraries
- Lo, A., Lin, C. T., & Wu, H. C. (2008). Hepatocellular carcinoma cell-specific peptide ligand for targeted drug delivery. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 7(3), 579–589. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-07-2359
- Löfblom, J., Feldwisch, J., Tolmachev, V., Carlsson, J., Ståhl, S., & Frejd, F. Y. (2010).
 Affibody molecules: Engineered proteins for therapeutic, diagnostic and biotechnological applications. In *FEBS Letters* (Vol. 584, Issue 12, pp. 2670–2680).
 No longer published by Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2010.04.014
- Lui, B. G., Salomon, N., Wüstehube-Lausch, J., Daneschdar, M., Schmoldt, H. U.,

Türeci, Ö., & Sahin, U. (2020). Targeting the tumor vasculature with engineered cystine-knot miniproteins. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-13948-y

- Mahmood, N., Mihalcioiu, C., & Rabbani, S. A. (2018). Multifaceted role of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) and its receptor (uPAR): Diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic applications. In *Frontiers in Oncology* (Vol. 8, Issue FEB, p. 24). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2018.00024
- Martin-Killias, P., Stefan, N., Rothschild, S., Plückthun, A., & Zangemeister-Wittke, U. (2011). A novel fusion toxin derived from an EpCAM-specific designed ankyrin repeat protein has potent antitumor activity. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 17(1), 100– 110. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1303
- McLafferty, M. A., Kent, R. B., Ladner, R. C., & Markland, W. (1993). M13 bacteriophage displaying disulfide-constrained microproteins. *Gene*, 128(1), 29–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1119(93)90149-W
- Merrifield, R. B. (1963). Solid Phase Peptide Synthesis. I. The Synthesis of a Tetrapeptide. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 85(14), 2149–2154. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00897a025
- Meyer, T., Robles-Carrillo, L., Robson, T., Langer, F., Desai, H., Davila, M., Amaya, M., Francis, J. L., & Amirkhosravi, A. (2009). Bevacizumab immune complexes activate platelets and induce thrombosis in FCGR2A transgenic mice. *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 7(1), 171–181. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1538-7836.2008.03212.x
- Middleton, S. A., Barbone, F. P., Johnson, D. L., Thurmond, R. L., You, Y., McMahon, F. J., Jin, R., Livnah, O., Tullai, J., Farrell, F. X., Goldsmith, M. A., Wilson, I. A., & Jolliffe, L. K. (1999). Shared and unique determinants of the erythropoietin (EPO) receptor are important for binding EPO and EPO mimetic peptide. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(20), 14163–14169. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.20.14163
- Morewood, R., & Nitsche, C. (2020). A biocompatible stapling reaction for in situ generation of constrained peptides . *Chemical Science*, *c*. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0sc05125j
- Mosavi, L. K., Cammett, T. J., Desrosiers, D. C., & Peng, Z. (2004). The ankyrin repeat as molecular architecture for protein recognition. *Protein Science*, *13*(6), 1435–1448. https://doi.org/10.1110/ps.03554604
- Mullard, A. (2018). Re-assessing the rule of 5, two decades on. In *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* (Vol. 17, Issue 11, p. 777). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd.2018.197
- Mustafa, M. S., Rasotgi, V., Jain, S., & Gupta, V. (2015). Discovery of fifth serotype of dengue virus (denv-5): A new public health dilemma in dengue control. *Medical Journal Armed Forces India*, 71(1), 67–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mjafi.2014.09.011

Myers, J. K., & Oas, T. G. (2001). Preorganized secondary structure as an important
determinant of fast protein folding. *Nature Structural Biology*, 8(6), 552–558. https://doi.org/10.1038/88626

NatureISSN. (2021). Pathogenesis - Latest research and news. In *Nature*. https://www.nature.com/subjects/solid-phase-synthesis

- Navarro, J. C., Arrivillaga-Henríquez, J., Salazar-Loor, J., & Rodriguez-Morales, A. J. (2020). COVID-19 and dengue, co-epidemics in Ecuador and other countries in Latin America: Pushing strained health care systems over the edge. In *Travel Medicine and Infectious Disease* (Vol. 37, p. 101656). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101656
- NEB. (n.d.). What peptide libraries are available for use with Ph.D.TM Phage Display? | NEB. Retrieved February 17, 2021, from https://international.neb.com/faqs/2012/09/25/what-peptide-libraries-are-availablefor-use-with-ph-d-trade-phage-display
- Nemudraya, A. A., Richter, V. A., & Kuligina, E. V. (2016). Phage peptide libraries as a source of targeted ligands. In *Acta Naturae* (Vol. 8, Issue 1, pp. 48–57). Russian Federation Agency for Science and Innovation. https://doi.org/10.32607/20758251-2016-8-1-48-57
- Nieberler, M., Reuning, U., Reichart, F., Notni, J., Wester, H. J., Schwaiger, M., Weinmüller, M., R\u00e4der, A., Steiger, K., & Kessler, H. (2017). Exploring the role of RGD-recognizing integrins in cancer. In *Cancers* (Vol. 9, Issue 9, p. 116). MDPI AG. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers9090116
- Noren, K. A., & Noren, C. J. (2001). Construction of high-complexity combinatorial phage display peptide libraries. *Methods*, 23(2), 169–178. https://doi.org/10.1006/meth.2000.1118
- Nygren, P. Å. (2008). Alternative binding proteins: Affibody binding proteins developed from a small three-helix bundle scaffold. In *FEBS Journal* (Vol. 275, Issue 11, pp. 2668–2676). FEBS J. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2008.06438.x
- O'Neil, K. T., Hoess, R. H., Jackson, S. A., Ramachandran, N. S., Mousa, S. A., & DeGrado, W. F. (1992). Identification of novel peptide antagonists for GPIIb/IIIa from a conformationally constrained phage peptide library. *Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics*, 14(4), 509–515. https://doi.org/10.1002/prot.340140411
- Orlova, A., Magnusson, M., Eriksson, T. L. J., Nilsson, M., Larsson, B., Höiden-Guthenberg, I., Widström, C., Carlsson, J., Tolmachev, V., Ståhl, S., & Nilsson, F. Y. (2006). Tumor imaging using a picomolar affinity HER2 binding Affibody molecule. *Cancer Research*, 66(8), 4339–4348. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3521
- Pacheco Barzallo, D., Pacheco Barzallo, A., & Narvaez, E. (2018). The 2016 earthquake in Ecuador: Zika outbreak after a natural disaster. *Health Security*, *16*(2), 127–134. https://doi.org/10.1089/hs.2017.0099
- Pasqualini, R., & Ruoslahti, E. (1996). Organ targeting in vivo using phage display peptide libraries. *Nature*, 380(6572), 364–366. https://doi.org/10.1038/380364a0

- Petrini, I., Barachini, S., Carnicelli, V., Galimberti, S., Modeo, L., Boni, R., Sollini, M., & Erba, P. A. (2017). ED-B fibronectin expression is a marker of epithelialmesenchymal transition in translational oncology. *Oncotarget*, 8(3), 4914–4921. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.13615
- Picco, S., Villegas, L., Tonelli, F., Merlo, M., Rigau, J., Diaz, D., & Masuelli, M. (2016). Determination of Gluten Peptides Associated with Celiac Disease by Mass Spectrometry. *Intech, tourism*, 13. https://www.intechopen.com/books/advancedbiometric-technologies/liveness-detection-in-biometrics
- Pini, A., Viti, F., Santucci, A., Carnemolla, B., Zardi, L., Neri, P., & Neri, D. (1998). Design and use of a phage display library: Antibodies with subnanomolar affinity against a marker of angiogenesis eluted from a two-dimensional gel. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(34), 21769–21776. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.34.21769
- Pollaro, L., Raghunathan, S., Morales-Sanfrutos, J., Angelini, A., Kontos, S., & Heinis, C. (2015). Bicyclic peptides conjugated to an albumin-binding tag diffuse efficiently into solid tumors. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 14(1), 151–161. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-0534
- Postic, G., Gracy, J., Périn, C., Chiche, L., & Gelly, J. C. (2018). KNOTTIN: The database of inhibitor cystine knot scaffold after 10 years, toward a systematic structure modeling. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 46(D1), D454–D458. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkx1084
- Prabu-Jeyabalan, M., Nalivaika, E., & Schiffer, C. A. (2002). Substrate shape determines specificity of recognition for HIV-1 protease: Analysis of crystal structures of six substrate complexes. *Structure*, 10(3), 369–381. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0969-2126(02)00720-7
- Qvit, N., Rubin, S. J. S., Urban, T. J., Mochly-Rosen, D., & Gross, E. R. (2017). Peptidomimetic therapeutics: scientific approaches and opportunities. *Drug Discovery Today*, 22(2), 454–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2016.11.003
- Rhodes, C. A., & Pei, D. (2017). Bicyclic Peptides as Next-Generation Therapeutics. In *Chemistry - A European Journal* (Vol. 23, Issue 52, pp. 12690–12703). Wiley-VCH Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201702117
- Roberts, M. J., Bentley, M. D., & Harris, J. M. (2012). Chemistry for peptide and protein PEGylation. In Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews (Vol. 64, Issue SUPPL., pp. 116– 127). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2012.09.025
- Roxin, Á., & Zheng, G. (2012). Flexible or fixed: A comparative review of linear and cyclic cancer-targeting peptides. *Future Medicinal Chemistry*, 4(12), 1601–1618. https://doi.org/10.4155/fmc.12.75
- Rubin, S., & Qvit, N. (2016). Cyclic peptides for protein–protein interaction targets: Applications to human disease. *Critical Reviews in Eukaryotic Gene Expression*, 26(3), 199–221. https://doi.org/10.1615/CritRevEukaryotGeneExpr.2016016525
- Salahudeen, M. S., & Nishtala, P. S. (2017). An overview of pharmacodynamic modelling, ligand-binding approach and its application in clinical practice. In *Saudi*

Pharmaceutical Journal (Vol. 25, Issue 2, pp. 165–175). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsps.2016.07.002

- Sapino, A., Goia, M., Recupero, D., & Marchiò, C. (2013). Current challenges for HER2 testing in diagnostic pathology: State of the art and controversial issues. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 3 MAY. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2013.00129
- Saw, P. E., & Song, E. W. (2019). Phage display screening of therapeutic peptide for cancer targeting and therapy. *Protein and Cell*, 10(11), 787–807. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13238-019-0639-7
- Schmidt, M. M., & Wittrup, K. D. (2009). A modeling analysis of the effects of molecular size and binding affinity on tumor targeting. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 8(10), 2861–2871. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-09-0195
- Schwarzer, D., Finking, R., & Marahiel, M. A. (2003). Nonribosomal peptides: From genes to products. In *Natural Product Reports* (Vol. 20, Issue 3, pp. 275–287). The Royal Society of Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.1039/b111145k
- Sharma, A., & Gupta, S. P. (2017). Fundamentals of viruses and their proteases. In Viral Proteases and Their Inhibitors (pp. 1–24). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809712-0.00001-0
- Sharma, S. C., Rupasinghe, C. N., Parisien, R. B., & Spaller, M. R. (2007). Design, synthesis, and evaluation of linear and cyclic peptide ligands for PDZ10 of the multi-PDZ domain protein MUPP1. *Biochemistry*, 46(44), 12709–12720. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi7008135
- Shojaei, F., & Ferrara, N. (2007). Antiangiogenesis to treat cancer and intraocular neovascular disorders. In *Laboratory Investigation* (Vol. 87, Issue 3, pp. 227–230). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.3700526
- Shragai, T., Tesla, B., Murdock, C., & Harrington, L. C. (2017). Zika and chikungunya: mosquito-borne viruses in a changing world. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1399(1), 61–77. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13306
- Sieber, S. A., & Marahiel, M. A. (2003). Learning from Nature's Drug Factories: Nonribosomal Synthesis of Macrocyclic Peptides. In *Journal of Bacteriology* (Vol. 185, Issue 24, pp. 7036–7043). J Bacteriol. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.185.24.7036-7043.2003
- Sikandar, A., & Koehnke, J. (2019). The role of protein-protein interactions in the biosynthesis of ribosomally synthesized and post-translationally modified peptides. *Natural Product Reports*, 36(11), 1576–1588. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8np00064f
- Simeon, R., & Chen, Z. (2018). In vitro-engineered non-antibody protein therapeutics. *Protein and Cell*, 9(1), 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13238-017-0386-6
- Singh, N., & Abraham, J. (2014). Ribosomally synthesized peptides from natural sources. In *Journal of Antibiotics* (Vol. 67, Issue 4, pp. 277–289). Japan Antibiotics Research Association. https://doi.org/10.1038/ja.2013.138
- Skerra, A. (2008). Alternative binding proteins: Anticalins Harnessing the structural plasticity of the lipocalin ligand pocket to engineer novel binding activities. In *FEBS Journal* (Vol. 275, Issue 11, pp. 2677–2683). FEBS J.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2008.06439.x

- Smith, G. P. (1985). Filamentous fusion phage: Novel expression vectors that display cloned antigens on the virion surface. *Science*, 228(4705), 1315–1317. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.4001944
- Sohrabi, C., Foster, A., & Tavassoli, A. (2020). Methods for generating and screening libraries of genetically encoded cyclic peptides in drug discovery. In *Nature Reviews Chemistry* (Vol. 4, Issue 2, pp. 90–101). Nature Research. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41570-019-0159-2
- Songprakhon, P., Thaingtamtanha, T., Limjindaporn, T., Puttikhunt, C., Srisawat, C., Luangaram, P., Dechtawewat, T., Uthaipibull, C., Thongsima, S., Yenchitsomanus, P. thai, Malasit, P., & Noisakran, S. (2020). Peptides targeting dengue viral nonstructural protein 1 inhibit dengue virus production. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 12933. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69515-9
- Stefan, N., Martin-killias, P., Wyss-stoeckle, S., Honegger, A., Zangemeister-wittke, U., & Plückthun, A. (2011). DARPins Recognizing the Tumor-Associated Antigen EpCAM Selected by Phage and Ribosome Display and Engineered for Multivalency. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 413(4), 826–843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2011.09.016
- Steiner, D., Forrer, P., & Plückthun, A. (2008). Efficient Selection of DARPins with Subnanomolar Affinities using SRP Phage Display. 1211–1227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2008.07.085
- Steiner, D., Forrer, P., Stumpp, M. T., & Plückthun, A. (2006). Signal sequences directing cotranslational translocation expand the range of proteins amenable to phage display. *Nature Biotechnology*, 24(7), 823–831. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1218
- Sung, H., Ferlay, J., Siegel, R. L., Laversanne, M., Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., & Bray, F. (2021). Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, caac.21660. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21660
- Suzuki, N., Mukai, H. Y., & Yamamoto, M. (2015). In Vivo Regulation of Erythropoiesis by Chemically Inducible Dimerization of the Erythropoietin Receptor Intracellular Domain. *PLOS ONE*, 10(3), e0119442.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0119442

- Takase, S., Kurokawa, R., Kondoh, Y., Honda, K., Suzuki, T., Kawahara, T., Ikeda, H., Dohmae, N., Osada, H., Shin-Ya, K., Kushiro, T., Yoshida, M., & Matsumoto, K. (2019). Mechanism of Action of Prethioviridamide, an Anticancer Ribosomally Synthesized and Post-Translationally Modified Peptide with a Polythioamide Structure. *ACS Chemical Biology*, *14*(8), 1819–1828. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.9b00410
- Tambunan, U. S. F., & Alamudi, S. (2010). Designing cyclic peptide inhibitor of dengue virus NS3-NS2B protease by using molecular docking approach. *Bioinformation*, 5(6), 250–254. https://doi.org/10.6026/97320630005250

- Tapeinou, A., Matsoukas, M. T., Simal, C., & Tselios, T. (2015). Review cyclic peptides on a merry-go-round; towards drug design. *Biopolymers*, 104(5), 453–461. https://doi.org/10.1002/bip.22669
- Ting, C. P., Funk, M. A., Halaby, S. L., Zhang, Z., Gonen, T., & Van Der Donk, W. A. (2019). Use of a scaffold peptide in the biosynthesis of amino acid-derived natural products. *Science*, 365(6450), 280–284. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau6232
- Vaidya, A. M., Wang, H., Qian, V., & Lu, Z. R. (2019). Extradomain-B Fibronectin is a molecular marker of invasive breast cancer cells. In *bioRxiv* (p. 743500). bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/743500
- Wang, C. K., & Craik, D. J. (2016). Cyclic peptide oral bioavailability: Lessons from the past. In *Biopolymers* (Vol. 106, Issue 6, pp. 901–909). John Wiley and Sons Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/bip.22878
- Wang, C. K., Swedberg, J. E., Northfield, S. E., & Craik, D. J. (2015). Effects of Cyclization on Peptide Backbone Dynamics. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, 119(52), 15821–15830. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcb.5b11085
- Weil, T. (2014). The growing significance of peptide therapeutics. *BioRegion Ulm*, 971–974.
- Went, P. T., Lugli, A., Meier, S., Bundi, M., Mirlacher, M., Sauter, G., & Dirnhofer, S. (2004). Frequent EpCam Protein Expression in Human Carcinomas. *Human Pathology*, 35(1), 122–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humpath.2003.08.026
- White, C. J., & Yudin, A. K. (2011). Contemporary strategies for peptide macrocyclization. *Nature Chemistry*, 3(7), 509–524. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchem.1062
- Wikman, M., Steffen, A. C., Gunneriusson, E., Tolmachev, V., Adams, G. P., Carlsson, J., & Ståhl, S. (2004). Selection and characterization of HER2/neu-binding affibody ligands. *Protein Engineering, Design and Selection*, 17(5), 455–462. https://doi.org/10.1093/protein/gzh053
- Willmann, J. K., van Bruggen, N., Dinkelborg, L. M., & Gambhir, S. S. (2008). Molecular imaging in drug development. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 7(7), 591–607. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2290
- Woods, S. C., May-Zhang, A. A., & Begg, D. P. (2018). How and why do gastrointestinal peptides influence food intake? *Physiology and Behavior*, 193(Pt B), 218–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.02.048
- Wrighton, N. C., Farrell, F. X., Chang, R., Kashyap, A. K., Barbone, F. P., Mulcahy, L. S., Johnson, D. L., Barrett, R. W., Jolliffe, L. K., & Dower, W. J. (1996). Small peptides as potent mimetics of the protein hormone erythropoietin. *Science*, 273(5274), 458–463. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.273.5274.458
- Wu, A. M., & Senter, P. D. (2005). Arming antibodies: Prospects and challenges for immunoconjugates. In *Nature Biotechnology* (Vol. 23, Issue 9, pp. 1137–1146). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1141
- Wu, C., Liu, I., Lu, R., & Wu, H. (2016). Advancement and applications of peptide phage display technology in biomedical science. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, 1–14.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-016-0223-x

- Wu, H., Bock, S., Snitko, M., Berger, T., Weidner, T., Holloway, S., Kanitz, M., Diederich, W. E., Steuber, H., Walter, C., Hofmann, D., Weißbrich, B., Spannaus, R., Acosta, E. G., Bartenschlager, R., Engels, B., Schirmeister, T., & Bodem, J. (2015). Novel dengue virus NS2B/NS3 protease inhibitors. *Antimicrobial Agents* and Chemotherapy, 59(2), 1100–1109. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.03543-14
- Xu, S., Li, H., Shao, X., Fan, C., Ericksen, B., Liu, J., Chi, C., & Wang, C. (2012). Critical effect of peptide cyclization on the potency of peptide inhibitors against dengue virus NS2B-NS3 protease. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 55(15), 6881– 6887. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm300655h
- Zahnd, C., Pecorari, F., Straumann, N., Wyler, E., & Plückthun, A. (2006). Selection and characterization of Her2 binding-designed ankyrin repeat proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(46), 35167–35175. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M602547200
- Zhu, S., Darbon, H., Dyason, K., Verdonck, F., & Tytgat, J. (2003). Evolutionary origin of inhibitor cystine knot peptides. *The FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, 17(12), 1765–1767. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.02-1044fje
- Zoller, F., Haberkorn, U., & Mier, W. (2011). Miniproteins as phage display-scaffolds for clinical applications. *Molecules*, 16(3), 2467–2485. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules16032467
- Zorzi, A., Deyle, K., & Heinis, C. (2017). Cyclic peptide therapeutics: past, present and future. In *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology* (Vol. 38, pp. 24–29). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2017.02.006
- Zorzi, A., Middendorp, S. J., Wilbs, J., Deyle, K., & Heinis, C. (2017). Acylated heptapeptide binds albumin with high affinity and application as tag furnishes longacting peptides. *Nature Communications*, 8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms16092